

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Strategies to Improve Employee Motivation in Addiction **Treatment**

Dawn Marie Belamarich Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Dawn Belamarich

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. James Glenn, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. James Savard, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Strategies to Improve Employee Motivation in Addiction Treatment

by

Dawn Belamarich

MS, Capella University, 2013

BS, The Richard Stockton College of New Jersey, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

Date of Completion April 2023

Abstract

Addiction treatment leaders are experiencing challenges in motivating qualified and committed professionals within their businesses. Without strategies to motivate and retain employees, addiction treatment businesses will fail, and patient outcomes can suffer. Grounded in Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation, the purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore strategies addiction treatment leaders used to improve employee motivation. The participants were 10 addiction treatment leaders with demonstrated experience in utilizing leadership strategies to improve employee motivation. Data were collected through semistructured interviews, a review of the literature on employee motivation in addiction treatment organizations, and a review of organizational archival information. Through Yin's five-step thematic analysis, four themes emerged: (a) employee and peer relationships; (b) recognition, praise, and promotions; (c) adequate compensation; and (d) working environment. A key recommendation for addiction treatment leaders is to increase efforts around employee appreciation events, recognition, and promotional opportunities. The implications for positive social change include the potential to improve the lives of individuals affected by addiction; bridge the gap between these individuals, their families, and the community; and create sustainable addiction treatment businesses across the United States that impact the greater good.

Strategies to Improve Employee Motivation in Addiction Treatment

by

Dawn Belamarich

MS, Capella University, 2013

BS, The Richard Stockton College of New Jersey, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

Date of Completion April 2023

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this study to my husband, Dave; my brothers; my mother; my coworkers; my family; and my friends who have been supportive of me on this journey. I am grateful to each of them for giving me the motivation, work ethic, patience, resources, and ability to achieve this lifelong goal. I know that my grandparents are looking down and smiling at this accomplishment.

Acknowledgments

I would also like to thank my committee chair, Dr. James Glenn; second committee members, Dr. Michael Lavelle and Dr. James Savard; and the team at Walden University for their support and guidance. Dr. Glenn, your patience and ability to always keep me on track have been instrumental in my success. I appreciate all of your guidance. I would also like to thank the Grantor's Office of Research & Sponsored Programs at Walden University for the generous social change grant to support this project.

Table of Contents

	Table of Contents	i
Ch	napter 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	3
	Purpose Statement	3
	Population and Sampling	4
	Nature of the Study	5
	Research Question	6
	Interview Questions	7
	Conceptual Framework	7
	Operational Definitions	8
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
	Assumptions	9
	Limitations	9
	Delimitations	10
	Significance of the Study	10
	Literature Review	12
	Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory	13
	History of Herzberg's Theory	18
	Current Utilization of Herzberg's Theory	22
	Competing Theories of Motivation	33

	Alternate Theories of Motivation	42
	Themes of Herzberg's Theory in Behavioral Healthcare	46
	Subthemes of Herzberg's Theory in Behavioral Healthcare	50
	Transition and Summary	56
Se	ection 2: The Project	58
	Purpose Statement	58
	Role of the Researcher	58
	Participants	61
	Research Design and Method	63
	Research Design	63
	Population and Sampling	65
	Ethical Research.	68
	Data Collection Instruments	71
	Data Collection Technique	73
	Data Organization Technique	74
	Data Analysis	75
	Trustworthiness in Research	78
	Credibility	78
	Confirmability	79
	Dependability	79
	Transferability	79
	Transition and Summary	80

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	81
Introduction	81
Presentation of the Findings	81
Theme 1: Employee and Peer Relationships	82
Theme 2: Recognition, Praise, and Promotions	89
Theme 3: Adequate Compensation	93
Theme 4: Working Environment	97
Applications to Professional Practice	101
Implications for Social Change	102
Recommendations for Action	103
Recommendations for Further Research	104
Reflections	106
Conclusion	106
References	108
Appendix: Interview Questions	132

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Sources	. 13
Table 2. Emergent Themes	.81

Chapter 1: Foundation of the Study

Employee turnover negatively affects businesses by increasing operational and hiring costs and limiting organizational growth and profits. As Olubiyi et al. (2019) stated, these costs can be as high as \$10,000 per hourly employee and twice as high as a replaced employee's annual salary. Retention strategies, and the associated costs, are at the forefront of most business leaders' agendas, with business leaders prioritizing the value of employees in growing their business and supporting competitive advantage (Yildiz et al., 2020). In social service organizations, the inability to motivate and retain key personnel may not only influence the business bottom line, but also have a negative influence on the client experience, thereby affecting added value that would otherwise accrue through a supportive therapeutic alliance and rapport with staff members (Astvik et al., 2020). The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration has reported that staff turnover in addiction treatment ranges from 15% to 50%, leaving addiction treatment leaders working to identify solutions to retain employees (Sherman et al., 2017). This qualitative study explored the strategies that addiction treatment leaders can use to increase employee motivation in the addiction treatment industry.

Background of the Problem

Retaining employees is vital to any business but is even more important in businesses working to make a positive social change. Addiction treatment is one such business where successful employee retention influences organizational success and plays a significant role in client success. According to Tauscher et al. (2021), 2.5 million American adults access treatment services yearly, and their unique needs require the

services of qualified and committed staff members to help achieve goals. Recent research has explored the role of employee motivation on the turnover rates of addiction treatment professionals, with motivation described as both an intrinsic and external factor that keeps employees within the organization. Working in the addiction treatment business can be challenging, and researchers have focused on overcoming barriers associated with employee retention (Hatch-Maillette et al., 2019; Kelly & Hearld, 2020; Kulesza et al., 2016).

Historical research has focused on factors such as training, workplace climate, resource management, and compensation in the industry's retention of addiction treatment professionals (Hatch-Maillette et al., 2019). Given the prevalence of these factors in the literature, the recommendations for retaining addiction treatment professionals include increased training, support, and compensation. Reference to the role of leaders such as CEOs, directors, leads, and supervisors is prevalent in the research, but successful employee motivation strategies require additional research (Ashford et al., 2018). According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2021), employment in the addiction treatment industry will grow by 23% through 2030. Addiction treatment leaders will benefit from effective strategies to motivate and retain employees as the workforce increases. The problem is that addiction treatment leaders struggle to identify strategies that positively influence employee motivation. In completing this study, I used the research to solve this problem and identify strategies that addiction treatment leaders can use to improve employee motivation for professionals in the addiction treatment business.

Problem Statement

Retaining qualified employees in the addiction treatment industry is essential as organizations work to positively influence their overall performance and profitability (Garner & Hunter, 2014). According to Sherman et al. (2017), the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration reported that staff turnover in addiction treatment ranges from 15% to 50%, with addiction treatment workers feeling the strain of changing workplace demands, burnout, and long hours. The general business problem is that addiction treatment employees are negatively influenced by a lack of motivation, which directly influences addiction leaders' and businesses' success and sustainability. The specific business problem is that some addiction treatment leaders lack strategies to improve employee motivation.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of the qualitative multiple case study was to identify the strategies that addiction treatment leaders use to improve employee motivation. The target population was addiction treatment leaders, including CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads across multiple addiction treatment facilities in the tri-state area surrounding New Jersey (New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania) who demonstrated the ability to retain employees. Employee retention improves business profitability, and the implications for social change in retaining qualified and committed employees in the addiction treatment industry may improve outcomes for individuals struggling with addiction. In addition to the benefits to addiction treatment businesses, clients receiving treatment may benefit

from retaining employees who can consistently support them in achieving goals throughout their treatment journey.

Population and Sampling

The target population was addiction treatment leaders, including CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads across multiple addiction treatment facilities in the tri-state area surrounding New Jersey (New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania) who had demonstrated the ability to retain employees. The sample size for this qualitative study included 10 addiction treatment leaders with proven success in retaining employees across unique addiction treatment facilities. The 10 CEOs and middle managers were from three unique organizations with a proven history of successful retention efforts. I used a semistructured interview protocol across participants. The eligibility criteria for participation were (a) CEO or middle manager leadership title within a facility with responsibility over multiple team members within the organization; (b) successful retention of addiction treatment employees within the last year, indicated by a turnover percentage lower than the national healthcare average; and (c) employed in the field of addiction treatment.

Purposive sampling is a method used in qualitative research to gather appropriate participants who are likely to provide useful information on a given topic. Purposive sampling helps the researcher identify and select cases without wasting time and resources (Campbell et al., 2020). Purposive sampling is not random but deploys a purposeful method of selecting participants for a study. Desselle et al. (2022) emphasized the use of purposive sampling when the chosen topic and population of study are specific

and random sampling would yield minimal or inappropriate results. I explored addiction treatment leaders' strategies to increase employee motivation. Given the specific parameters for study participation, purposive sampling was the best approach to identifying CEOs and middle managers who fit the study criteria.

Nature of the Study

I used a qualitative methodology for this study. Qualitative research involves exploring reality through the descriptive and interpretative analysis of people's experiences, views, and frameworks (Whiffin et al., 2022). The qualitative method provides an individualized lens to understand social situations and industries (Cho et al., 2022). For this study, a qualitative method made sense, given the need to identify specific strategies that leaders used to motivate employees and create more sustainable workplaces. Through the use of the qualitative method, I examined the specific strategies that leaders in the addiction industry used to make sound conclusions on innovative approaches and strategies that could create lasting retention (Grodal et al., 2021). A quantitative method did not align with the needs of this research, given the focus on causes and outcomes rather than producing explanations that could limit ongoing retention issues in the industry (Jamali, 2018). The quantitative method also involves the use of concrete questions with minimal ability to gather details on social situations and interviewee perspectives (Jamali, 2018). Given the focus on strategies that addiction treatment leaders can use to increase employee motivation, a qualitative method was the most appropriate for this study.

A qualitative case study was the research design chosen to discuss strategies that addiction treatment leaders can utilize in improving employee motivation. Researchers use case study design to gather observations, interviews, and information from participants engaged in a studied phenomenon (Jamali, 2018). For this study, interviews with addiction treatment leaders helped in gathering data on factors of motivation. In using this design, I aimed to study a particular group, addiction treatment leaders, to identify strategies that influence employee motivation. The study explored multiple leaders across three unique organizations. Given the involved group of participants, I conducted a multiple case study. A multiple case study was the most effective design, given that two or more unique participants were engaged in this study on strategies that increase employee motivation. Given the multiple unique participants for this study, a single-case study would not have benefited this research (Rashid et al., 2019). Both phenomenological and narrative research designs were not appropriate for this study. Phenomenological designs focus on the universal underpinnings of a topic, rather than the unique approach taken by the interviewee (Rietmeijer & Veen, 2022). Narrative research compiles feedback on a topic for the researcher to interpret (Rashid et al., 2019). In this study, I explored the unique strategies that addiction treatment leaders use to increase employee motivation, which required direct feedback from participants on the strategies that improved employee motivation in addiction treatment.

Research Question

The research question for this study was the following: What strategies do addiction treatment leaders use to improve employee motivation?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to increase employee motivation?
- 2. How do you know that these strategies improved employee motivation?
- 3. What are any barriers or limitations, if any, to implementing these strategies?
- 4. Tell me about the impact of recognition, praise, and promotional opportunities on employees in your facility or business.
- 5. Tell me about the impact of organizational policies, salaries, incentives, working conditions, and peer relationships on employees in your business.
- 6. What are your current retention rates and reasons for turnover in your facility and/or business?
- 7. To the best of your knowledge, how do these rates and reasons compare to other regional treatment centers?

Conceptual Framework

Many researchers have analyzed frameworks specific to employee motivation factors across businesses. Frederick Herzberg's (1959) two-factor theory is a conceptual framework developed to measure how specific factors influence the overall retention and motivation of employees within an organization (Akdemir, 2020). Herzberg's theory is an extension of Maslow's (1943) hierarchy of needs and looks at the satisfying or motivating factors that motivate employees in the workplace, as well as the dissatisfiers, or hygiene factors, that limit employee motivation and retention (Alrawahi et al., 2020). In this framework, motivating factors include recognition, support, appreciation, and worth, while hygiene factors include work components such as working conditions, pay,

the connection amongst colleagues, policies, and supervision (Alrawahi et al., 2020). Herzberg theorized that the combination of positive experiences in these two areas, as well as the reduction of employee needs, increases motivation and retention. The application of Herzberg's theory to this study helped support the conclusion that an increase in employee motivation increases organizational retention and success.

Operational Definitions

Addiction treatment: Rehabilitation services that vary in intensity based on individual assessment and patient needs. Addiction treatment helps patients keep off addictive substances and reacclimate back into society (Sarkar et al., 2022).

Employee motivation: The means that empower employees to take structured action in the workplace (Sobaih & Hasanein, 2020).

Hygiene factors: The second construct of Herzberg's two-factor theory. Hygiene factors include any factors that prevent job dissatisfaction, including company policy and administration, job security, salary, supervision, interpersonal relationships, supervisory relationships, physical working condition, and benefits (Thant & Chang, 2021).

Motivator factors: One component of Herzberg's two-factor theory. Motivating factors include recognition, support, appreciation, and worth, while hygiene factors include work components such as working conditions, pay, the connection amongst colleagues, policies, and supervision (Alrawahi et al., 2020).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Research, specifically qualitative research, occurs via a dual creation of meaning by the participant and researcher, with a certain expectation of assumptions and

limitations present in the research (Schlegel et al., 2021). Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations are present within all research. As Theofanidis and Fountouki (2018) noted, researchers should note these factors at the onset of a study to balance recognition of facts with outcomes within a given study. Below are definitions of assumptions, limitations, and delimitations as they correspond to this study.

Assumptions

Assumptions are prevalent in any research process, and certain assumptions are relevant to this study. According to Levitt (2021), assumptions in research are beliefs or elements within a study that the researcher assumes to be true before testing. In this study, the assumption was that interviewed participants, both CEO and other addiction treatment leaders, would provide open and honest feedback for the interview questions. Another assumption was that the leaders in question had the needed information to respond to questions about the motivation of their employees and that they would be forthright and honest with feedback provided. Finally, I assumed that a qualitative approach was the best research design to study the strategies that addiction treatment leaders use to increase the motivation of employees.

Limitations

According to Theofanidis and Fountouki (2018), limitations within a study are typically outside of a researcher's control and align with the research design, statistical model constraints, funding constraints, or other factors. Though limitations are out of a researcher's control, acknowledging limitations at the onset of a study is essential. One limitation of this study was the sample size of the CEOs and leaders chosen to participate.

The sample size may not represent the entire population of addiction treatment leaders in the region but encompasses a sample size assumed to produce reliable and valid results. Another limitation of this study was in the chosen methodology. I chose to utilize a qualitative, multiple case study design, which can include a smaller sample size in quantitative analysis. The sensitive nature of the job within the industry may elicit limited involvement, and the sample size represents that fact.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the limitations set forth by the researcher (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Unlike limitations, delimitations are within the researcher's control. According to Theofanidis and Fountouki (2018), delimitations define the boundaries and limits set by the researcher and include factors such as theoretical background, objectives, research questions, and variables in the study. The scope of this study was addiction treatment organizations on the northeast coast of the United States, including New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania.

Significance of the Study

Successful leaders work to maximize employee retention; this need is apparent within the addiction treatment industry. According to Ashford et al. (2018), treatment within the behavioral health field cost the United States 420 billion dollars in 2016, with two thirds of those treated for a substance use disorder experiencing a relapse within months of receiving treatment. Motivating and retaining key personnel to work with patients is more important than ever in this business. By establishing the relationship between leadership strategies and employee motivation within the addiction treatment

industry, employers can expect to improve the bottom line and benefit patients receiving treatment. This research will help guide best practices and strategies for addiction treatment leaders within the industry (Tsounis et al., 2017). By identifying the strategies that motivate and retain employees in addiction treatment, behavioral health leaders can solve a significant problem within the industry.

Responding to the research question will have a positive influence on society. Addiction treatment employees work with challenging clients daily, and when employees are content and motivated to sustain employment, clients, their families, and the community benefit from those outcomes (Enos, 2014). As retention increases, the business bottom line benefits, and communities can limit the burden of being torn apart and paralyzed by addiction. The implications for positive social change include the potential to improve the lives of individuals affected by addiction; bridge the gap between these individuals, their families, and the community; and create sustainable addiction treatment businesses across the United States that impact the greater good. Employee motivation improves business profitability, and the implications for social change in retaining qualified and committed employees in the addiction treatment industry may improve outcomes for individuals struggling with addiction (Tsounis et al., 2017). In addition to the benefits to addiction treatment businesses, clients receiving treatment may benefit from retaining employees who can consistently support them in achieving goals throughout their treatment journey.

Literature Review

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to identify the strategies that leaders in the addiction treatment industry use to improved employee motivation. I divided the literature into subtopics to clearly define the factors contributing to the leadership strategies and clarify the chosen conceptual framework. These subtopics included Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation, history of Herzberg's theory, current utilization of Herzberg's theory, competing theories of motivation, alternate theories of motivation, themes of Herzberg's theory, and subthemes of Herzberg's conceptual framework.

The databases I used to review the literature included Academic Search Premier, Business Source Complete, ProQuest, Thoreau Multidatabase, and SAGE Journals. I reviewed the literature on retention in addiction treatment, addiction treatment and employee motivation, leadership strategies in addiction treatment, and Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation. The keywords used to review the literature included addiction treatment, behavioral health leaders, behavioral health employees, addiction treatment staff, addiction treatment employees, substance abuse treatment, addiction leaders, employee motivation in healthcare, employee motivation in behavioral health, Herzberg, motivation-conservation theory, motivator factors, hygiene factors, and Herzberg's two-factor theory. Table 1 lists the 131 sources used in the literature review.

Table 1

Literature Review Sources

	Older than 5 years	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	Total
_	<u> </u>							
Books	3	1						4
Government documents	2				1			3
Other sources	1							1
Peer-reviewed articles	21	7	16	31	38	23	1	137
Total	27	8	16	31	39	23	1	145

Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory

Frederick Herzberg developed the two-factor theory of motivation. Herzberg et al. (1959) proposed the two-factor, or motivation-hygiene theory, in the book *The Motivation to Work*, to analyze the specific factors that influenced employee satisfaction and dissatisfaction. Herzberg was a humanist behavioral psychologist who worked at multiple universities researching and consulting on the motivations of employees across industries (Behling et al., 1968). Herzberg's theory was controversial at the time of its development due to how the concepts of the two-factor theory competed with traditional unidimensional theories of motivation (Davis & Allen, 1970). The theory also received criticism due to its identification of employee-specific factors that influenced satisfaction or lack thereof, with researchers concerned about the sample size and previously unfounded differences between job satisfiers and dissatisfiers, as Herzberg stated (Davis & Allen, 1970). Herzberg identified these constructs through a study of 200 engineers that he detailed in his book *The Motivation to Work* (Zhang et al., 2020). The theory helped set the stage for additional research on employee motivation and retention.

Until Herzberg's theory, few theorists had researched the role of employee motivation within the workplace. In *The Motivation to Work*, Herzberg and his team examined job motivation from a new and unique approach to employee motivation and retention issues across industries (Herzberg et al., 1959). In Herzberg's time just as today, employee motivation and its role in retention were valuable areas for study, especially given its role in the success and growth of businesses. In 1959, Herzberg et al. conducted a study on job attitudes to identify creative approaches to mitigate turnover and absenteeism while increasing productivity and working relations between employees, leaders, and organizations. Herzberg et al. knew that work was one of the most absorbing things in an individual's life. They conducted a study on people's attitudes towards their job and included it in their progressive book, *The Motivation to Work*. Though some foundational concepts were specific to prior theories, Herzberg and his team identified new ways to look at employee motivation.

Based on the initial hierarchy of needs established by Maslow, Herzberg was intrigued by the factors that motivate employees. Herzberg et al. (1959) interviewed employees and collated findings from these interviews to form the basis for the two-factor theory (Alam et al., 2020). According to Sobaih and Hasanein (2020), Herzberg interviewed 200 engineers in accounting and engineering firms in the Pittsburgh area and identified specific factors that contribute to worker motivation or lack thereof. Workers rated their job experiences and job perceptions on a Likert scale, from *extremely bad* to *exceptionally good* (Sobaih & Hasanein, 2020). The combination of the intrinsic and extrinsic factors from this interview provided the basis for Herzberg's two-factor theory

(Soumar et al., 2021). The constructs developed through this research helped in studying employee motivation and retention across workplaces. The evolution of this theory and its ability to stand up to decades of testing and rigor made it an ideal theory to use in responding to the research question for this study.

The main constructs of Herzberg's theory are motivator and hygiene factors. Herzberg identified motivators as the factors that increase workplace satisfaction and hygiene factors as those that decrease workplace satisfaction (Koziol & Koziol, 2020). Motivator factors influence positive employee morale and loyalty to an organization, while hygiene factors include all negative influences that increase worker dissatisfaction (Artaya et al., 2021). According to Bhatt et al. (2022), good motivators result in high employee satisfaction. Motivators include promotion opportunities, recognition, praise, and quality of work. The presence of hygiene factors influences employee dissatisfaction in the workplace. Hygiene factors include company policies, salary, working conditions, and interoffice peer relationships, and the absence of these factors increases employee dissatisfaction (Bhatt et al., 2022). He theorized that job satisfaction and dissatisfaction align along a continuum, which includes a neutral midway point where employees are neither satisfied nor dissatisfied (Behling et al., 1968). The combination of these factors is the basis of Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation.

Motivator Factors

In Herzberg's two-factor theory, motivator and hygiene factors are the main theoretical constructs. These dual constructs provided a new way of looking at employee motivation and job satisfaction at the time of the theory's development (Herzberg et al.,

1959). Motivator factors are the intrinsic qualities that motivate employees and encourage job satisfaction (Shrestha & Dangol, 2020). According to Herzberg et al. (1959), these factors include achievement, recognition, responsibility, growth, and purpose in work. Martinez and Martinez (2019) stated that motivator factors are sometimes known as growth factors because they refer to the higher growth needs and desires that employees need to grow in their work and improve job satisfaction. Motivator factors are core to Herzberg's theory and relevant within behavioral health and addiction treatment research.

Motivator factors are present in the literature when discussing behavioral health and addiction treatment. In a study by Filteau et al. (2022), the researchers conducted qualitative interviews with addiction treatment providers at a medicated-assisted treatment organization in rural Montana to identify barriers to staff motivation, retention, and organizational success. The researchers concluded that staff turnover, lack of support, and burnout contributed to reduced employee motivation (Filteau et al., 2022). The research highlighted the significant levels of motivation and mission-driven values that addiction treatment employees bring into the industry but clearly highlighted some barriers to maintaining this motivation. Addiction treatment leaders can increase factors associated with Herzberg's motivators and decrease factors contributing to reduced motivation in addiction treatment.

A deeper understanding of motivator factors helps in understanding their utilization within addiction treatment. In a business where the work can be challenging, motivator factors are valuable in improving employee motivation and retention (Martinez & Martinez, 2019). In a behavioral health study conducted by Meza et al. (2021), the

researchers found that first-level managers, specifically leads, directors, and supervisors, have a beneficial influence on supervised staff when they can remain tied to the purpose and supportive of individual team needs. These leaders are responsible for the dissemination and buy-in of executive policies, the team's overall direction, and the first line of defense for employee problems. Their resulting leadership can influence employee motivation, satisfaction, and retention (Meza et al., 2021). It is clear from the literature that when leaders utilize strategies that increase motivators in the addiction treatment industry, employee motivation and retention will improve.

Hygiene Factors

Hygiene factors are another primary construct of the two-factor theory. Contrary to motivator factors, hygiene factors reduce job dissatisfaction instead of improving overall satisfaction (Martinez & Martinez, 2019). According to Pedraza and Chen (2020), hygiene factors are externally driven factors that directly correlate to reducing employee dissatisfaction within employees. These factors include interpersonal relationships, policies, working conditions, personal life, salary and compensation, status, and job security. Herzberg et al. (1959) used the word *hygiene* to represent the series of factors above, given their maintenance-like quality within the workplace. He was clear that these factors do not improve or influence overall employee motivation but instead serve to reduce feelings of dissatisfaction (Herzberg et al., 1959). Herzberg theorized that as the level of dissatisfaction in hygiene factors increased, so did the lack of employee motivation.

Hygiene factors have a significant role in mission-oriented jobs. Leaders can also considerably influence reducing these constructs within a behavioral health setting. As noted by Kelly and Hearld (2020), burnout is chronic and persistent in behavioral healthcare settings, as employees have the primary task of supporting challenging clients and issues. Leaders can positively influence the work setting and help employees overcome burnout, which leads to dissatisfaction and turnover. In a qualitative review of the literature by Cleary et al. (2020), the researchers found that direct, emphatic, and solutions-focused leadership improved the retention of behavioral health employees. The researchers also identified multiple interventions that leaders could use to decrease hygiene factors in behavioral healthcare amongst teams: clear communication, appreciation for the needs of employees, time management, supervision skills, and change management behaviors (Cleary et al., 2020). Hygiene factors can provide a lens through which addiction treatment leaders can identify strategies to improve employee motivation and retention. There is historical utilization of motivator and hygiene factors across industries noted in the research.

History of Herzberg's Theory

Herzberg's two-factor theory has evolved but has consistent relevance in the literature when discussing employee motivation. As stated by Alrawahi et al. (2020), researchers have used Herzberg's theory to discuss the tenets of employee motivation that influence diverse employment groups. Recent research highlights the role of Herzberg's theory as a lens to analyze motivation in healthcare (Alrawahi et al., 2020). The core tenets of Herzberg's theory identify factors that influence motivation and job satisfaction,

with recent research highlighting the role of leadership in positively influencing employee experience (Garza & Taliaferro, 2021). The two main constructs of Herzberg's theory further define the role of employee motivation in impacting organizational success.

In the 1970s, Herzberg's theory received a critical review in its ability to measure employee motivation. In a study conducted by Davis and Allen (1970), the researchers surveyed 1,014 bank employees in a Midwestern region of the United States to gauge the length of time that feelings of satisfaction or dissatisfaction lasted. The researchers highlighted certain criticisms of Herzberg's theory of the time, including the small sample size of his original study and the inability to gauge the length of time that feelings of satisfaction or dissatisfaction remain with employee groups. In their study, Davis and Allen concluded that feelings of positive job satisfaction last longer than periods of dissatisfaction, with motivator factors yielding stronger and positive long-term stability than hygiene factors. Additional studies have noted the challenges posed to the two-factor theory throughout the 1970s.

Sample size and ambiguity were other factors called into question regarding Herzberg's theory. In a study by Wall and Stephenson (1970), the researchers noted similarities around theoretical ambiguities and sample size in relation to Herzberg's theory. The researchers conducted a thorough examination of Herzberg's experiment, concluding that individuals are likely to give "socially desirable" answers to Herzberg's survey questions, yielding results that are not amenable as a standard for measuring employee job satisfaction and dissatisfaction (Wall & Stephenson, 1970, p. 41). The

controversy around Herzberg's theory continued to loom in a study completed by Bockman (1971), in which the author stated that Herzberg's theory is challenging to support given its emphasis on attitudes rather than facts. Bockman (1971) stated that Herzberg's constructs can be hard to measure, given that when measuring attitude, it is hard to get an accurate description, rather than a rationalization. Vroom (1964), who also developed a theory of motivation, emphasized similar conflict with Herzberg's theory, stating that the theory was method-bound and not replicable, given its focus on feelings over facts. Though many researchers have struggled to embrace a multifaceted workplace motivation theory, the two-factor theory continued to evolve and stand up to rigorous testing over time, yielding support from other researchers.

Multiple researchers challenged Herzberg's theory from 1959–1970, but some researchers supported the theoretical framework. In a review of the literature conducted by Behling et al. (1968), a thorough review of 10 studies explored the efficacy of Herzberg's conceptual framework. The authors noted that despite claims by various researchers on the failings of Herzberg's duality constructs, multiple studies have supported these findings. Additional studies from 1959–1970 analyzed Herzberg's two-factor theory across populations such as Air Force officers, life insurance agents, and utility workers, all yielding support for Herzberg's motivator and hygiene constructs (Behling et al., 1968; Ewen, 1964; Hullin & Smith, 1967; Schwartz, 1959). These studies provided support and credibility to the constructs specific to Herzberg's theory.

The constructs of Herzberg's two-factor theory remained relatively unchanged from 1980–1990 in studying diverse industries and employee groups. In a study by

Medved (1982), the researcher surveyed 70 teachers from a small Midwestern school district through Herzberg's theoretical constructs. The study lent support for Herzberg's theory, identifying specific motivator factors that increase teacher job satisfaction and hygiene factors to influence job dissatisfiers (Medved, 1982). The researcher's conclusions also supported Herzberg's assumption that employees at varying tenures will have unique motivations, which was clear with longstanding teachers who had more specific retirement needs than younger teachers (Medved, 1982). The positive momentum around Herzberg's theory continued into the 20th century.

As the twentieth century unfolded, psychological theories of motivation gained traction, and Herzberg's theory received more positive attention in studying employee motivation. In a study of 350 Florida engineers and accountants, Maidani (1991) developed four hypotheses to assess for significant differences between Herzberg's motivator and hygiene factors across public and private personnel. Maidani concluded that satisfied employees value motivators more than dissatisfied employees. Maidani also concluded that public sector employees emphasized hygiene factors more than private employees. Herzberg's theory, inclusive of motivator and hygiene factors, continued to make appearances in the literature across industries through the 1990s.

Herzberg's theory was also gaining popularity in the 1990s as the composition and gender of the workforce evolved. In a study conducted by Powell (1990), the researcher explored the differences between male and female leadership styles through the lens of Herzberg's theory to understand if there are inherent differences in participant responses, approaches, and employee motivation. Through a qualitative literature review,

Powell discovered that there are no differences in motivation between employees with male and female leaders, with the researchers recommending that organizations remain gender-blind in hiring and retention efforts. With increased support across industries, Herzberg's theory continued to grow in popularity in the study of worker behaviors and motivations.

As we entered the 2000s, the utilization of Herzberg's theory in research continued to evolve. With the addition of online websites and retailers, the two-factor theory gained recognition as a theory to explore new business variables. In a study by Zhang et al. (2000), the researchers looked to determine if hygiene and motivator factors can transcend the web environment. Through an analysis of website user satisfaction and dissatisfaction measures, the researchers concluded that hygiene and motivator factors could help identify the satisfiers and dissatisfiers of individuals accessing websites (Zhang et al., 2000). In another study by Han et al. (2006), the two-factor theory compared intrinsic employees' satisfaction to external customers' satisfaction within the service guarantee of an online store. Through a quantitative case study analysis of 32 online clothing stores in China, the researchers found that satisfaction with the store guarantees was low, resulting in the need for improvements to increase satisfaction around products and user experience. Herzberg's theory has an extensive history in the literature, with a broad utilization and value added through the 20th century.

Current Utilization of Herzberg's Theory

Numerous studies have referenced Herzberg's theory to study employee motivation since the theory's inception. There is limited research on addiction treatment

through Herzberg's theory, but there is considerable research on the theories' constructs in measuring employee motivation and retention across addiction treatment employee groups. These employees include doctors, nurses, counselors, technicians, and other healthcare employees. A synthesis of diverse studies on Herzberg's theory is below. Herzberg's theory facilitates the study of motivation across cultures (Matei & Abrudan, 2016), the sporting industry (Lamb & Ogle, 2019), school personnel (Abraham & Prasetyo, 2021; Emiroglu et al., 2017), the airline industry (Park et al., 2020), doctors and physicians (Shah et al., 2021), and many other industries. In analyzing Herzberg's theory within addiction treatment, it is valuable to explore the prior research on its utilization in the healthcare industry, including behavioral health. Behavioral health is the overarching industry that encompasses addiction and mental health treatment.

Through this literature analysis, we can understand how Herzberg's theory's constructs transcend the addiction treatment industry. The topics for the literature review are the following: Herzberg's theory across nonhealthcare industries, Herzberg's theory within healthcare, competing and alternate theories, and Herzberg's theoretical constructs through the lens of behavioral health. This literature can help build a foundation to respond to the research question.

The Two-Factor Theory in Nonhealthcare Industries

Multiple studies of healthcare employees and patients have utilized Herzberg's theory to provide a lens to explore research questions and hypotheses. The same is true across non-healthcare-related industries. The reference to Herzberg's theory occurs in studies of airline personnel, volunteers, government employees, educators, bankers, and

technologists. In one study of airline personnel, Park et al. (2020) examined the quality of airline service attributes and overall consumer satisfaction. The researchers conducted a literature review of 157,035 consumer reviews to explore the hypothesis that a linear relationship exists between positive airline service attributes and consumer satisfaction. By analyzing the hypotheses through Herzberg's theory, the researchers concluded that the following attributes increased motivation to utilize the airline: in-flight entertainment options, cleanliness, and food and beverage service. Individual characteristics of each airline demonstrated the promotion of satisfiers (Park et al., 2020). The value of Herzberg's theory in measuring motivation continued to guide best practices across non-healthcare industries.

Another study explored the motivating factors of sporting event volunteers through Herzberg's theory. Lamb and Ogle (2019) surveyed 97 volunteers at the ISPS Handa Perth International Golf tournament in Perth, Australia, to explore the events that transpired before the event and why volunteers involved themselves in event volunteerism. They concluded that personal and community benefits motivated volunteers. They also found that motivating and hygiene factors specific to Herzberg's theory motivated volunteers and improved their desire, with the 'love of the game' being the main motivator across participants (Lamb & Ogle, 2019). This study helps validate the use of Herzberg's theory to define the motivation behaviors of paid employees and unpaid and volunteer workers.

Government Employee Motivation and Herzberg's Theory. Herzberg's theory is also present in the literature to explore governmental employee motivation. In a study

conducted by Thant and Chang (2021), the researchers surveyed 226 public employees in the Myanmar Ministry of Border Affairs to gauge job satisfiers and dissatisfiers for employees. By applying Herzberg's theory, the researchers concluded that both motivator and hygiene factors influenced employees, with interpersonal relationships, factors in personal lives, and recognition having the most positive effect. Working conditions, supervision techniques, and personal factors elicited the greatest negative influence on worker satisfaction (Thant & Chang, 2021). This study helps guide governmental leaders on strategies that increase worker motivation.

Teacher Motivation and Herzberg's Theory. Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation is prominent in the literature on teacher motivation. In a study of 341 teachers in North Cyprus, motivator and hygiene factors were primary factors in job satisfaction within their role (Emiroglu et al., 2017). In this study, teacher satisfaction was both intrinsic and extrinsic amongst participants, helping aid the development of training tools that educational leaders can use to motivate future North Cyprus educators (Emiroglu et al., 2017). In another study of teaching professionals, Toytok and Acar (2021) analyze the relationship between the perception of teachers working in primary, secondary, and high schools around the organizational policy. For the study, the researchers sampled 522 teachers from school districts in Sirrt, Turkey, during the 2017-2018 academic year (Toytok & Acar, 2021). In this study, worker motivation and hygiene factors were high, while worker perception of organizational policies across school districts ranked moderate. Herzberg's theory was beneficial in measuring motivation across traditional

educational settings, and its utilization is also prominent across unique educational settings.

Recent studies using Herzberg's theory focus on teacher motivation across educational settings with unique workforces and adjunct faculty. In a study by Abraham and Prasetyo (2021), the researchers used a mixed-method approach to study 20 teachers at a small high school in the Philippines. The researchers concluded that the work environment, lack of recognition, salary, and workload are significant job dissatisfiers for surveyed teachers. The relationship with co-workers and leadership were satisfiers (Abraham & Prasetyo, 2021). In another study by Shrestha and Dangol (2020), the researchers explore the influences of conscientiousness and motivator factors among Technical and Vocational Education Teachers (TVET) in Nepal. A cross-sectional survey of 302 TVET teachers in Nepal showed that high conscientiousness and moderate motivator factors impacted teacher motivation (Shrestha & Dangol, 2020). Motivator factors are important constructs in Herzberg's theory, and these factors provide strategies that educational leaders can deploy to increase motivation and retention.

The research also notes the use of Herzberg's theory in nontraditional educational settings. Martinez and Martinez (2019) explored the role of hygiene and motivator factors across faculty in a large, non-traditional university. Using Herzberg's theory as the lens, the researchers analyzed the role of four factors in influencing teachers' attitudes around respect, commitment, and willingness to recommend the university to another: communication, institutional practices, tools to do the job, and utilization of expertise (Martinez & Martinez, 2019). The researchers concluded that hygiene factors play a

significant role in reducing job dissatisfaction in teachers. They also found that the intrinsic motivator of expertise utilization significantly influences teacher satisfaction (Martinez & Martinez, 2019). Other studies on the same industry replicate these findings.

In a similar study, researchers analyzed the motivation behaviors of university educators in Northeast India. Through a quantitative analysis of 478 academicians in Northeast India, or approximately 30% of the total academicians working in that region, Singh and Bhattacharjee (2020) found that Herzberg's two-factor theory accurately measured academicians' levels of motivation. The researchers found that both motivator and hygiene factors are applicable in measuring employee motivation and satisfaction for this population. However, the levels of satisfaction varied when measured outside the Northeast India region (Singh & Bhattacharjee, 2020). Herzberg's theory has demonstrated utilization across teachers in educational settings, but it is also prevalent when identifying strategies to motivate and retain students.

Herzberg's theory is relevant in exploring student motivation. In a study by Pedraza and Chen (2020), the researchers studied student undergraduate persistence to complete STEM programs through the lens of hygiene and motivator factors. Through a qualitative, longitudinal approach, the researchers analyzed data from the National Center for Education Statistics from 2002-2012 (Pedraza & Chen, 2020). The researchers found that motivators improved student persistence when combined with hygiene factors. They also concluded that hygiene factors improved outcomes associated with students remaining in college, while motivator factors increased outcomes associated with remaining in the STEM major (Pedraza & Chen, 2020). As relevant as Herzberg's theory

is in identifying strategies that leaders can use in educational settings, its utilization also transcends into the banking industry.

The Banking Industry and Herzberg's Theory. Herzberg's theory is present in the literature to explore motivation amongst bankers. In a study by Artaya et al. (2021), the researchers studied employees at a small bank in Indonesia to identify the role that Herzberg and Maslow's theoretical constructs play in employee loyalty and job motivation. In a quantitative analysis of 225 bank employees and leaders across ten banks, the researchers found that both Herzberg's and Maslow's constructs influenced employee loyalty (Artaya et al., 2021). Artaya et al. (2021) also found that the relationship between the company and employee as it pertains to motivator and hygiene factors significantly influences the employee's motivation to remain employed with the banking organization. The technology industry also references Herzberg's two-factor theory to discuss worker motivation and retention.

The Technology Industry and Herzberg's Theory. More recently, technologists have started looking at Herzberg's theory, specifically the use of hygiene and motivator factors, to study employee motivation. In a study by Sharma et al. (2022), the researchers explored how developers' perceptions of value fit with the project and how they interact to determine the level of code contribution and rate of change. Through the lens of Herzberg's two-factor theory, the researchers surveyed 564 developers across 431 projects on GitHub, a database of code developers and projects. They concluded that each employee's value fit with the project positively influences the code contribution level and growth. However, there are notable differences between paid and unpaid developers in

the influence of value fit on their level and growth in code contributions over time (Sharma et al., 2022). Herzberg's theory has historical context in the literature in studies of employee motivation, especially within non-healthcare settings.

The use of Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation over time serves as a lens through which non-healthcare industries explore worker motivation. The two-factor theory also has significant relevance within healthcare, especially across employee groups specific to behavioral health and addiction treatment. The research includes studies on doctors, nurses, and emergency personnel. These employee groups work in addiction treatment, and their analysis helps leaders develop strategies that improved motivation, workplace satisfaction, and retention. The research on Herzberg's theory in healthcare will help provide a framework to respond to the research question.

The Two-Factor Theory in Healthcare

Multiple researchers explore Herzberg's two-factor theory in relation to workplace motivation across emergency room doctors and healthcare organizations. In a study conducted by Alrawahi et al. (2020), Herzberg's theory serves as the theoretical framework for exploring the motivation behaviors of emergency personnel in Omani hospitals. The researchers concluded that hygiene factors were dissatisfiers: health and safety, workload, salary, promotion, recognition, and company policies. Relationships with leaders and co-workers and professional development opportunities were motivators in the Omani workplaces (Alrawahi et al., 2020). In another study of medical doctors in Warsaw, Poland, the researchers utilized a World Health Organization (WHO) questionnaire to analyze the motivating factors that drove key performance indicators

across 249 physicians in 22 unique hospitals (Chmielewska et al., 2020). The researchers analyzed the results through Herzberg's theory. They concluded that quality and type of supervision were motivating factors for physicians, while performance feedback had the lowest effect on organizational performance (Chmielewska et al., 2020). Herzberg's constructs are also prevalent within the research on nursing motivation.

The Nursing Industry and Herzberg's Theory. Nurses make up one of the largest workforces in behavioral health, and the need for strategies to increase motivation for this discipline is clear. The shortage of healthcare workers in the United States, as indicated by the World Health Organization, has encouraged multiple studies on nursing motivation and retention (Yasin et al., 2019). In one study by Garza and Taliaferro (2021), the researchers explored the factors that reduce turnover and influence motivation among home healthcare nurses. Through their qualitative study of 12 South Texas home healthcare nurses, four significant themes emerged from the data: clients positively influence the experience of home healthcare workers, autonomy promotes job satisfaction, occupational stressors negatively influence employee motivation, and leadership influences employee motivation (Garza & Taliaferro, 2021). Herzberg's theory served as the theoretical lens to examined variables in the study. In another nursing study conducted by Yasin et al. (2019), the researchers evaluated 38 studies from six databases to explore factors associated with nurse job satisfaction in urban and rural areas. The study sampled studies across the United States from 1998 to 2018 (Yasin et al., 2019). In analyzing the factors along the tenets of Herzberg's conceptual framework, the researchers concluded that both intrinsic and extrinsic factors motivate nurses, with

the physical work environment, autonomy, and freedom prominent in both regions.

Urban studies focused more on the value of work-life balance.

Similarly, in a literature review completed by Staempfli and Lamarche (2020), 161 articles identified the factors that help motivate nursing teams in hospitals. The researchers provided constructive strategies for hospital leaders to utilize in retaining nurses, with the following factors serving as motivators for the discipline: nursing autonomy, organizational culture, burnout reduction, and provision of resources (Staempfli & Lamarche, 2020). All the studies noted the value of ongoing research pertaining to nursing motivation in urban and diverse settings.

The research also discusses nursing motivation in other countries. In a study by

Lee and Lee (2022), the researchers surveyed 348 nurses from six small and large nursing
organizations in Korea to identify the factors contributing to motivation. Lee and Lee
(2022) concluded that factors motivating nurses include a sense of purpose or calling,
resilience, and a positive working environment. Lee and Lee (2022) also found that
resilience was the strongest factor influencing nursing work, while the work environment
directly affected the nurses' intention to stay. The study provided meaningful data points
and strategies that leaders can use to retain nurses in healthcare settings (Lee & Lee,
2022). Nurse retention is evident in the literature and a key factor in addiction treatment.
Examining employee motivation and retention in this discipline through Herzberg's twofactor theory can provide strategies for best practices. The literature also highlights the
use of Herzberg's theory in the context of diverse nursing employee groups.

Nurse practitioners and managers are another nursing employee group found within behavioral health. In another study of nursing employee motivation, Sharpe (2008) used Herzberg's two-factor theory to analyze the motivations of 161 registered psychiatric nurses in Connecticut, Maine, and Massachusetts. Using the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire, Sharpe (2008) measured the relationship between ability utilization, compensation, co-workers, achievement, and job satisfaction. Sharpe (2008) concluded that a moderate relationship existed between the variables, with 14% of the nurses least satisfied with the compensation. Though the motivations of nursing leaders are similar to direct care nursing employees, there are also clear differences in strategies that motivate them.

Strategies to increase nursing motivation in large healthcare regions such as New York are also prevalent in the literature. In a qualitative phenomenological study conducted by Cox (2019), the researcher studied the motivation behaviors and retention of 20 nursing managers across large healthcare organizations in New York. Cox (2019) examined job satisfaction and retention through Herzberg's theory. The researcher found that relationships with peers and team members, leadership support, the ability to focus on patient care, and the ability to prioritize nursing manager responsibilities yielded positive outcomes (Cox, 2019). The purpose-driven motivators of nurses also transcend into the work of emergency personnel. Their role in addiction treatment is prominent, and the need for strategies to motivate and retain these employees is important for continued service delivery.

Emergency Personnel and Herzberg's Theory. Herzberg's two-factor theory has utilization in exploring the factors that motivate emergency personnel. In a review of the literature conducted by Shah et al. (2021), the researchers collected 53,724 physician reviews of 3,372 doctors from the NIH website to identify the patient satisfiers and dissatisfiers pertaining to treatment. Through their analysis, the researchers concluded that patient satisfaction was greatest when physicians were inaccessible and had positive hospital environments, received previous positive reviews, and exhibited positive attitudes with patients (Shah et al., 2021). Physicians who experienced high motivation levels within their workplace also elicited higher patient satisfaction. When leaders have strategies to motivate and retain healthcare employees, employees are satisfied, which yields positive results for the business and patients.

The research on healthcare workers' motivation through the lens of Herzberg's theory helps create a foundation for the study. Many of the worker types indicated in the research are inclusive of behavioral health and addiction treatment. A summary of competing and alternate theories will provide more context for utilizing Herzberg's theory in responding to the research question.

Competing Theories of Motivation

Herzberg's two-factor theory is one theory of motivation found within the literature. There are competing theories of motivation that also provide a lens to evaluate employee motivation. These theories also highlight strategies that leaders can use to increase motivation for employees in the workplace. A description of human motivation

theory, ERG theory, Locke's goal-setting theory, Maslow's hierarchy of needs, theory of planned behavior, and Vroom's expectancy theory are below.

Human Motivation Theory

Human motivation theory is an early theory that explored worker motivation. David McClelland developed human motivation theory or acquired needs theory, in 1961 to identify the factors that motivate individuals at work (Schuler et al., 2019). This theory, an extension of Maslow's hierarchy of needs, is built upon the premise that individuals are uniquely motivated by specific factors, which directly translate to their motivation at work. McClelland identified three specific factors to classify needs: achievement, affiliation, and power (Bhattacharya & Mittal, 2020). According to McClelland's theory, individuals all have these three competing motivators, with only one being able to be primary, regardless of age, gender, or culture (Bhattacharya & Mittal, 2020). Unlike Herzberg's theory, McClelland felt that only one factor enhanced or reduced employee motivation, whereas Herzberg theorized that dual factors could help explain employee motivation.

McClelland defined achievement, affiliation, and power in the context of his theory. According to Bhattacharya and Mittal (2020), conflict can arise when an individual has unmet needs, which prompts the introduction of competing motivators. The achievement motivator encompasses those with a high degree of concern for aligning their work and productivity with a standard of excellence (Schuler et al., 2019). Affiliation involves an individual's desire to connect to others, such as employees, peers, and coworkers. Affiliated individuals aim to remain harmonious and agreeable with those

in their environment (Schuler et al., 2019). Finally, power involves control, influence, and an overarching desire to acquire recognition and titles (Schuler et al., 2019). Power motivator falls into two categories, personal and institutional, with those seeking personal power desiring control and those seeking institutional power bringing teams together to organize efforts around a common goal (Schuler et al., 2019). The human motivation theory is a competing theory of motivation to Herzberg's theory. ERG theory is another theory that discusses human motivation.

ERG Theory

The ERG theory is another theory that helps explain individual motivation.

Clayton P. Alderfer developed ERG theory in 1969 as an extension of Maslow's hierarchy of needs (Wang et al., 2021). As stated by Yang et al. (2021), Alderfer developed the theory based on the idea that human beings must have purpose and value in their work to ensure meaning and productivity. ERG is about three constructs that Alderfer felt increased levels of purpose and value: existence, relatedness, and growth (Yang et al., 2021). Like Maslow's theory, ERG theory includes a hierarchy that prioritizes the three constructs (Yang et al., 2021). Alderfer utilized many of the principles of Maslow's hierarchy of needs to define these three constructs and it extended the theory of human motivation in the workplace (Wang et al., 2021). These three constructs provide an understanding of worker motivation behaviors.

Alderfer clearly defined the constructs of existence, relatedness, and growth.

According to Yang et al. (2021), existence needs are lower-level needs, including physiological and safety. Existence mirrors Maslow's first stage in the hierarchy of

needs, given its focus on basic needs translated to the workplace (Alam et al., 2020). In ERG theory, existence includes employees' economic and emotional needs, with economic needs providing physiological security and emotional needs supporting employee safety (Yang et al., 2021). Relatedness is ties to the interpersonal needs and acquisition of trust and respect in the workplace (Wang et al., 2021). Relatedness aligns with employees' status within their role and organization (Yang et al., 2021). Finally, growth is most aligned with Maslow's level of self-actualization, which relates to an individual's ability to bring creativity, productivity and good to the world (Wang et al., 2021). To achieve maximum workplace motivation, individuals must meet their existence needs first, followed by relatedness and growth needs (Yang et al., 2021). In ERG theory, the combination of these three constructs embodies the ultimate motivation that employees can achieve in the workplace. Locke's goal-setting theory serves as another competing theory of motivation for this study.

Locke's Goal-Setting Theory

In 1968, Edwin Locke developed the value theory to help define job satisfaction and employee motivation. Locke, an American psychologist, developed his theory to describe the factors that motivate employees to achieve goals (Locke, 1970). Unlike Herzberg's theory, which identified unique constructs in theories of employee motivation, Locke's theory used historical theories and constructs of motivation.

According to Locke (1970), job satisfaction and dissatisfaction are outcomes of action, with performance and motivation linked to the job outcome individuals hope to achieve. Though Locke (1970) noted the value of employee emotions as drivers in goal

achievement, he did not identify them as determining factors in motivation or goal attainment. Locke's theory directly conflicts with Herzberg's theory that notes job attitude as a key contributor to motivation (Herzberg et al., 1959). The steps specific to Locke's theory also elicited deviation from Herzberg's theory.

Locke's theory, which emphasized the role of outcomes in worker satisfaction and motivation, included five specific steps. According to Locke (1970), these steps emphasize the role of employee values and needs in achieving goals: environmental stimuli, cognition, evaluation, goal setting, and performance. Locke's theory emphasizes the role of individual needs and values in an employee's motivation. He argues that environmental conditions such as pay, promotion, and agents, or supervisors, are determinants of job satisfaction. Locke also notes that role ambiguity and conflict within the workplace can negatively influence job satisfaction (Kemery et al., 1987). There are similarities and differences between Herzberg and Locke's theories, with significant differences in the role of attitude and emotion in motivation and workplace satisfaction. Despite its popularity in the 1970s and 1980s, Locke's theory had minimal utilization over the last few decades. Despite this, it is still an important theory to analyze when discussing competing theories of motivation for this study.

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs

Multiple theories of motivation are ubiquitous in research in the 65 years since the development of Herzberg's theory of motivation. These theories explore employee motivation across industries. Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory is one for comparison, especially given the foundation it provided in developing Herzberg's conceptual

framework. Abraham Maslow developed his renowned theory in 1943 to identify the factors underpinning human personality and motivation (Alam et al., 2020). In Maslow's hierarchy of needs, he assigned priorities to specific human needs in the form of a triangular hierarchy. These needs, ranked from highest to lowest in the pyramid, are the following: physiological needs, safety needs, belongingness needs, esteem needs, and self-actualization (Staempfli & Lamarche, 2020). Maslow inferred that as individuals satisfy one need, they can progressively move to the next, with the highest-level being self-actualization. Though Maslow deduced that individuals would never reach this final level, it remains at the top of the hierarchy (Alam et al., 2020). Self-actualization remains the highest need that human beings aspire to.

Each level in Maslow's hierarchy has specific characteristics and objectives. As stated by Alam et al. (2020), basic or physiological needs represent the basic needs that humans require such as food, water, shelter, and sleep. These basic needs are items needed for survival (Hayre-Kwan et al., 2021). Once individuals achieve these basic needs, they can move to the next level in the hierarchy. Safety needs include protection of body and self, morality, and employment, while the need for belonging refers to friendships, family, and sexual intimacy (Tchitchinadze, 2020). Esteem needs include self-esteem, confidence, achievement, and respect from others (Tchitchinadze, 2020). Finally, self-actualization is the peak level of achievement in Maslow's theory of needs. Motivation is a primary requirement across Maslow's continuum, with self-actualization manifesting the goals of morality, creativity, problem-solving, lack of prejudice, and

embracing facts (Tchitchinadze, 2020). This motivation increases by using effective strategies, especially across leaders.

Maslow's theory is prominent in the research on employee motivation across disciplines, including healthcare and related fields. As the healthcare industry faces more demands than ever, especially amidst the pandemic, leaders and researchers are exploring the factors that motivate employees (Stefan et al., 2020). In a study conducted by Hayre-Kwan et al. (2021), researchers analyzed nurses' motivations through the lens of Maslow's theory during the pandemic. They found that healthcare nurses were more motivated by basic needs during stressful times than by achieving levels of self-actualization. In a subsequent study of 824 Romanian healthcare workers by Stefan et al. (2021), the researchers concluded that workers valued the steps to achieve self-actualization. Still, workplace motivation increased for workers along the lower levels of the hierarchy. There is a lack of literature that explored motivation and workplace satisfaction in the addiction treatment business through Maslow's theoretical lens. However, it is still a significant theory to discuss for this study.

Theory of Planned Behavior

The theory of planned behavior is another theory that discusses employee motivation. Icek Ajzen developed the theory of planned behavior (TPB) in 1991 as an attempt to predict the behaviors of human beings, and its utilization through the decades has helped understand the motivation intentions of employees (Hassan et al., 2021). According to Hassan et al. (2021), TPB analyzes the intention-behavior relationships of human beings, theorizing that individuals use rational and systematic thinking to make

decisions with available information. This theory has been prominent in the literature to understand the motivation intentions of employees in the private sector (Li et al., 2021). The three variables that make up the TPB intentions are attitude, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control (PBC), which mirror many of the principles of a cognitive-behavioral approach in psychology (Lee & Shin, 2020). This theory is like Herzberg's theory in its analysis of employee attitude and intention. Still, it is unique in its singular approach to understanding motivation and its regular pairing with other theoretical frameworks (Li et al., 2021). TPB's constructs have built out the foundation for studies on employee motivation in the workplace.

Attitude, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control are the intentions specific to TPB. According to Lee and Shin (2020), TPB defines attitude as the level to which a behavior is favorable or unfavorable. In a workplace, attitude is a significant predictor of motivation and intention, with employees with positive attitudes more motivated to achieve goals and increase productivity. Subjective norms are the perceived pressures an individual feels when performing a task or behavior (Lee & Shin, 2020). This attribute is often associated with the organization's leader but can also come from peers and coworkers (Hassan et al., 2021). The final intention attribute in TPB is perceived behavioral control. According to Hassan et al. (2021), PBC is an individual's perception of the ease or difficulty associated with achieving a behavior. In a workplace, this would include challenges or support from the leader, resources available, and financial stability in the role and within the organization (Hassan et al., 2021). The combination of these three attributes specific to Azjen's TPB increases or decrease

employee intention and workplace motivation. TPB explored employee motivation within some of the theory's core tenets, making it an ideal theory to discuss when analyzing competing theories for this study.

Vroom's Expectancy Theory

Vroom's expectancy theory is another important motivation theory to discuss in the context of employee motivation. In 1964, Victor Vroom developed the expectancy theory to understand the motivation of employees in the workplace (Chopra, 2019). In his popular book, *Work and Motivation*, Vroom attempted to create a theory that helped managers understand and motivate their employees by understanding the cognitive antecedents that promote employee motivation (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). According to Davidescu et al. (2019), the four hypotheses that made up Vroom's theory include: people join an organization with assumed expectations and needs, conscious choice influences the individual's workplace behavior, people have expectations from their workplace, and people choose between multiple alternative jobs to maximize personal benefit. In developing this theory, Vroom identified specific elements that makeup workplace motivation in employees. From his perspective, the primary motivations of employees are hope, instrumentality, and valence (Davidescu et al., 2019). These motivators increase through effective leadership strategies.

Expectancy theory helps understand employee motivation across various industries and topics, including the beauty industry, security services, activity-based costing, entrepreneurial ventures, and retail. There is lacking literature on its use in healthcare and addiction treatment (Chopra, 2019). As stated by Tchitchinadze (2020),

the essence of Vroom's theory is that employees act in response to perceived reward, with expectancy representing how much effort an employee must put in to receive the reward and achieve maximum performance. In a helping industry such as addiction treatment, the reward is often purpose-driven, which can be challenging to measure through Vroom's theory of motivation. In Vroom's theory, employees will direct their motivation to the outcome that brings on the greatest reward, which can be challenging in an industry where the reward is often client outcome and success (Tchitchinadze, 2020). There is also ongoing debate as to whether Vroom's theory accurately predicts workplace behavior and motivation, resulting in limited use over the last few decades (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Regardless, expectancy theory is a competing theory of motivation to Herzberg's two-factor theory, and its discussion is important in understanding the use of Herzberg's theory in responding to the research question.

Alternate Theories of Motivation

There are theories of motivation that compete with Herzberg's theory of motivation but also that represent alternate theories of motivation. These theories provide additional context in understanding the variables and the chosen conceptual framework for this study. These theories also highlight the benefits of leadership strategies to increase worker motivators. A discussion on self-determination theory, transactional leadership theory, and transformational leadership theory follows.

Self-Determination Theory

One alternate theory of employee motivation is the self-determination theory.

Edward Deci created the self-determination theory in 1985, theorizing that the

psychological need for autonomy, competence, and relatedness must be present for employee motivation (Philippe et al., 2019). Deci theorized that workers identify opportunities to maximize these factors and avoid scenarios that limit their ability to engage in the three intertwined concepts (Haynes et al., 2021). This theory helps leaders identify interventions that may bring people the needed autonomy, competence, and relatedness needed for success, while also increasing employee motivation (Haynes et al., 2021). These motivators increase through the use of effective strategies and environments.

Deci's theory has a few unique attributes. Self-determination theory is unique in that it values the intrinsic motivation that inspires employees to complete tasks and obtain optimum job satisfaction (Goodboy et al., 2021). Deci postulated that human beings require only three intrinsic motivators to enhance workplace satisfaction: autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Goodboy et al., 2021). This theory has evolved over the last 37 years and has similarities and differences to Herzberg's theory. Though this theory looks at individual attributes as determinants for workplace motivation, it does emphasize hygiene factors that may increase or decrease worker motivation (Haynes et al., 2021). Self-determination theory has relevance today, particularly given its focus on the individual needs of workers that steer decision-making for leaders and organizations (Goodboy et al., 2021). Its relevance makes it a valuable theory to discuss in analyzing Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation.

Transactional Leadership Theory

One theory of motivation for discussion is transactional leadership theory. This theory is often at the opposite end of the spectrum from transformational leadership theory regarding constructs and rewards. Max Weber developed this theory in the 1980s to highlight the value of contingent rewards in the leader-employee relationship (Khan et al., 2021). Unlike transformational leadership theory, Weber theorized that relationship and meaning at work do not influence success, but that clear expectations and transaction completion increase productivity and workplace satisfaction (Khan et al., 2021). In a transactional approach, the worker has the responsibility of changing the leader's expectations and direction (Miranda, 2019). The tenets of transaction leadership include the achievement of short-term goals, structure, accountability, organization, and resource work within businesses (Hannah et al., 2020). The structure of a transactional approach is very defined, leaving concrete expectations around leadership strategies in the workplace.

There are specific roles assigned to leaders and employees in a transactional approach. In a transactional leadership style, the leader is a manager who delegates responsibility with detailed instructions and accountability for noncompliance (Jelaca et al., 2020). There are clear delineations of role in a transactional leadership style. Jelaca et al. (2020) state that employees in a transactional environment know the boss's role is to give instruction and provide contingent rewards or punishment for behaviors. Unlike Herzberg's theory, transactional leadership theory does not identify parameters for inspiring employees or providing vision for the future. Though still a valuable motivational theory, transactional leadership theory is less prevalent in the literature over

the last few decades, given the heightened priority of leaders to motivate and retain employees (Miranda, 2019). This alternate theory demonstrates the value of Herzberg's theory, especially in an addiction workforce that benefits from strategies that motivate employees.

Transformational Leadership Theory

Transformational leadership theory is another alternate theory with prominence in the literature. James MacGregor Burns developed transformational leadership theory in 1978 to explore motivation through followers' internal values and motivations (Seitz & Owens, 2021). According to Siangchokyoo et al. (2020), Burns theorized that leaders could transform the motivations of their workers through the provision of four principles, individualized consideration, intellectual stimulation, inspirational motivation, and idealized influence. Individualized consideration entails a leader treating followers as equal in the workplace, intellectual stimulation involves collaborative decision-making and motivation amongst leader and employee, inspirational motivation is a compelling leadership approach for communicating goals and vision, and idealized influence involves serving as a role model and mentor for employees to increase motivation and performance (Hannah et al., 2020). Through this approach, followers would be committed to individual performance goals and alignment with the expectations of organizational excellence.

Excellence in transformational leadership involves using strategies to increase motivation and purpose. According to Hannah et al. (2020), a transformational approach's main leadership task is to increase employees' intrinsic motivation by influencing morale

and performance. This leadership theory encourages the leader to be the most active in the context of the workplace and employees (Jelaca et al., 2020). By applying transformational leadership strategies in the workplace, Burns theorized that motivation and satisfaction would improve. The role of the leader-follower relationship is a priority in this theory, with the leader emphasizing integrity, compassion, and ethical work from both themselves and the team members (Kelly & Hearld, 2020). The transformational leadership theory has gained tremendous notoriety over the last few decades as the focus on employee morale, and worker motivation have become priorities for leaders in retaining employees (Miranda, 2019). Multiple studies have explored the role of transformational leadership in increasing employee motivation, but Herzberg's theory remains the most appropriate for responding to the research question.

Many competing and alternate theories discuss the strategies leaders use to increase employee motivation. These theories provide an overview of the factors influencing these variables across industries, employee groups, and organizations over time. Along with Herzberg's two-factor theory, these frameworks create a broad understanding of the evolution of theories of motivation and their utilization across diverse workplaces.

Themes of Herzberg's Theory in Behavioral Healthcare

Herzberg's two-factor theory includes themes and subthemes specific to the study of employee motivation. These themes and subthemes help carve out strategies that leaders can use to influence workers in the behavioral health and addiction treatment industry. The main themes of Herzberg's theory, employee motivation encompassed in

motivator and hygiene factors, have clear utilization in the research. The subthemes of Herzberg's theory include job attitudes, job satisfaction, and retention. A discussion of behavioral healthcare, the overarching industry encompassing addiction treatment, will provide the context to explore the themes and subthemes specific to Herzberg's theory.

Employee Motivation

As noted previously, Herzberg's theory remains a prominent framework within the literature to explore the motivation behaviors of employees in business. Motivator and hygiene factors are core to Herzberg's theory, with the underlying theme of employee motivation framing the construct. The concept of employee motivation remains relevant in the literature, significantly as workplaces and employee needs evolve (Kulikowski & Sedlak, 2017). The need to evolve with these changes is important in addiction treatment, especially with the reduction in healthcare personnel and the emphasis on identifying leadership traits that can motivate a purpose-driven employee industry (Yasin et al., 2019). The definition of employee motivation includes all efforts to increase the enthusiasm, commitment, and creativity that employees bring to work (Philippe et al., 2019). These motivations can be intrinsic or extrinsic. Motivation is the factor that steers how employees act in the workplace, and Herzberg noted the value of this construct in his motivator factors (Sobaih & Hasanein, 2020). The literature identifies the role of motivation in behavioral health employees, with leaders playing a key role in influencing this motivation.

Effective leadership strategies are beneficial in influencing employee motivation within addiction treatment. In a study conducted by Ford and Gilson (2021), the

researchers explored the role of leadership in promoting motivation behaviors and attitudes in addiction treatment employees around organizational sustainability efforts. Through this quantitative analysis, the researchers concluded that employees were more motivated to embrace sustainability efforts when leaders communicated the plan and offered opportunities for training to help support the sustainability initiative (Ford & Gilson, 2021). Having leaders create a solutions-oriented culture was also a factor in the organization's sustainability success (Ford & Gilson, 2021). Both motivator and hygiene factors include the benefits of supervisor-employee relationships and the benefits of training to elicit positive outcomes. The value of these factors is prevalent within the literature.

The research also highlights the role of addiction treatment leadership strategies in influencing employee motivation in times of crisis. In a quantitative analysis of 176 substance abuse treatment workers in Greece, Rachiotis et al. (2021) explored the factors contributing to employee burnout and decreased motivation during the 2016 economic crisis. According to the researchers, burnout was prevalent due to staff shortages, organizational changes, and supply shortages (Rachiotis et al., 2021). As noted by the researchers, leaders at the Greek organizations were ill-prepared to handle crises, and organizational leaders did not foster positive working conditions and relational factors needed to sustain motivation (Rachiotis et al., 2021). The absence of positive motivator factors and the inability to reduce hygiene factors can be detrimental in the addiction treatment industry. Employee motivation is important in the addiction treatment industry to achieve success, with leadership strategies serving a valuable role in motivation levels.

Behavioral Healthcare

Behavioral healthcare is the umbrella term for several patient-facing services. As stated by Cagne et al. (2018), behavioral health encompasses addiction treatment, mental health treatment, and trauma work for individuals and groups. The field has evolved over the last 80 years, including more levels of care to meet client needs within addiction treatment areas. All behavioral health industries include working with challenging client populations and employing similar employees across the workforce. According to Sherman et al. (2017), 19.7 million people aged 12 and older received a substance use disorder diagnosis in the United States. The industry cannot meet this growing need without qualified, motivated, and retained employees. This study will explore behavioral healthcare professionals, including addiction treatment professionals, using Herzberg's two-factor theory as the conceptual framework.

There is a need for evidence-based leadership strategies to improved employee motivation within behavioral health. In a study conducted by *Behavioral Healthcare Executive*, researchers surveyed more than 600 behavioral health treatment professionals in the United States, and they stated that employee retention continues to be their biggest struggle, with 66% reporting understaffing in their clinical programs and 29.3% reporting inadequacy in administrative departments (Miller, 2018). Stewart et al. (2021) identified employee motivation and retention as the most significant indicators of organizational and patient success in addiction treatment. In an industry that prioritizes promotion from within, strategies that support motivation are high priority (Choy-Brown et al., 2020). Cleary et al. (2020) state that effective and empowering leadership is one of the

hallmarks of quality healthcare institutions, and it is an essential driver of outcomes in addiction treatment. Using Herzberg's theory and constructs as a lens to view the industry, addiction treatment leaders can deploy effective strategies to increase worker motivation.

Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation includes constructs that can directly benefit leaders by deploying strategies to increase motivation amongst addiction treatment employees. As noted previously, the workforce within addiction treatment is diverse, ranging from clinical and nursing supports to peer support workers (Cagne et al., 2018). The work of behavioral healthcare professionals is mission-oriented, requiring leaders to deploy strategies that align with worker values and motivations (Miller, 2018). Though addiction treatment has grown tremendously in the last twenty years, employee motivation in this industry is a newer study area. The role of the leader is to identify the strategies that can motivate and retain this workforce, especially as the treatment needs within the world increase (Miller, 2018). Employees' unique needs in behavioral healthcare settings encourage an understanding of motivator and hygiene factors to implement effective leadership strategies.

Subthemes of Herzberg's Theory in Behavioral Healthcare

The subthemes of Herzberg's theory are important to reference for this study.

These subthemes provide a framework for understanding the strategies that leaders can deploy to improved worker behaviors and organizational outcomes. The subthemes include job attitudes, job satisfaction, and retention.

Job Attitudes

Employee motivation, specifically hygiene and motivator factors, are the primary themes of Herzberg's two-factor theory, but Herzberg also prioritized the role of job attitudes in developing his theory. According to Herzberg et al. (1959), job attitude refers to how someone feels about their work. During the time of his study, Herzberg et al. (1959) highlighted the following three categories of job attitude: exploring the direct experience of job satisfaction through a like or dislike scale, scaled inventories of morale across industries, and observations of behavior, rather than direct employee questioning surrounding job satisfaction. Job attitude reflects an employee's satisfaction or dissatisfaction towards their job. In Herzberg's revolutionary theory, he conceptualized that hygiene and motivator factors directly influence these levels. Herzberg theorized that leaders play a significant role in implementing strategies influencing job attitudes (Martinez & Martinez, 2019). Given the purpose-driven nature of the work, job attitude is a well-documented component to the motivation and retention of addiction treatment employees.

There is a divergence of Herzberg's main themes and subthemes when exploring worker motivation. The level to which leader's prioritize Herzberg's motivator and hygiene factors can influence an employee's job attitude (Shrestha & Dangol, 2020). As indicated, the purpose is a primary motivation for behavioral healthcare workers, and leaders must be equally motivated by the work's mission. Leaders should be able to communicate and model that message for their teams. Linette (2019) conducted a qualitative analysis of the literature on the characteristics of successful nursing leaders in

behavioral health. The researcher noted that nursing leaders should exemplify traits and experience in advocacy, recovery, community, education, safety, and leadership to influence the attitude and buy-in of team members. When leaders exemplify these qualities, Linette (2019) states that behavioral health employees will model the behaviors of their leader. Modeling a purpose-driven attitude is an effective strategy for addiction treatment leaders.

Job attitude is also a positive motivator in community mental health and addiction treatment settings. Lindvig et al. (2020) conducted a qualitative study of nine community health workers treating mental health and addiction treatment clients to identify the factors that increased positive attitudes towards the job. The researchers found that an engaging and supportive relationship between clients and workers facilitated a positive job attitude from workers (Lindvig et al., 2020). Prior research noted the value of intrinsic purpose in improving the job attitude of addiction treatment employees, and this study highlights the clear benefit of a positive client-staff relationship. Addiction treatment leaders can foster a work environment that facilitates positive job attitudes among employees, especially through utilization of Herzberg's themes. Workers' and leaders' positive job attitudes can influence addiction treatment motivation.

Job Satisfaction

Job satisfaction is another subtheme of Herzberg's theory relevant to the behavioral health field. Job satisfaction includes employees' feelings and beliefs about all aspects of their workplace (Sobaih & Hasanein, 2020). Herschell et al. (2020) state that job satisfaction is low across behavioral health settings, including addiction treatment

organizations. In Herzberg's theory, job satisfaction, or components of satisfiers and dissatisfiers, are the guideposts for outcomes, with motivator and hygiene factors providing the framework for employees' job satisfaction level (Herzberg et al., 1959). Alrawahi et al. (2020) state that job satisfaction is essential in every industry but vitally important in healthcare as we navigate changing economies, a global pandemic, and stressors influencing all behavioral health aspects. Leaders have the responsibility of using strategies that improved employee job satisfaction.

When an employee is not satisfied in behavioral health, this can negatively influence the organization and the clients it serves. Eby et al. (2010) conducted a longitudinal study to explore the turnover reasons for counselors and clinical supervisors across 27 diverse treatment organizations for two years. The researchers concluded that of the 33.2% of counselors and 23.4% of clinical supervisors that left the organizations, the main motivator was lack of job satisfaction and desire to work elsewhere (Eby et al., 2010). Kulesza et al. (2016) also explored the role of job satisfaction in retaining addiction treatment employees. The researchers found that job satisfaction was a primary motivator of employee retention, with factors such as organizational climate, leadership qualities, and commitment to mission as primary factors associated with job satisfaction (Kulesza et al., 2016). A study of millennial employees in India also validates the above, demonstrating that job satisfaction, specifically through Herzberg's hygiene factors, improved workplace satisfaction for millennial employees in healthcare (Bhatt et al., 2022). These studies validate the use of Herzberg's theory to drive strategies to improved job motivation and satisfaction within addiction treatment.

Behavioral health is also unique when analyzing job satisfaction through the lens of Herzberg's theory, given the uniqueness of the workforce. According to Harris et al. (2022), many behavioral health workers have lived experience of mental health and addiction-related disorders, making them one of the most valuable yet targeted assets within the workplace. In a study conducted by Harris et al. (2022), the researchers studied 40 mental health workers to gauge the level of workplace bullying experienced, as well as the influence on their job satisfaction. The researchers concluded that more than three-quarters of the participants experienced workplace bullying, half within the last year (Harris et al., 2022). This unique characteristic of the behavioral health workforce can influence job satisfaction, specifically hygiene factors associated with occupational stress, relationships with co-workers, and relationship with leadership (Stefan et al., 2020). In an industry with rich lived experience, leaders have a primary role in reducing workplace issues and deploying strategies that increase worker motivation.

Retention

Retention is another subtheme specific to Herzberg's conceptual framework and an area of ongoing study within addiction treatment. In a study by Garner and Hunter (2014), the researchers concluded that one in three counselors and one in four supervisors leave addiction treatment jobs annually. Since the initiation of the Affordable Care Act, there has been an increase in healthcare access for 13.4 million Americans, many of whom may need addiction treatment services. Retaining key employees in this industry is important to meet the growing demand (Gomel, 2015). Retaining key personnel has been a focal point of leaders in the industry for decades, and this subtheme was one that

Herzberg focused on in creating his two-factor theory. In a study conducted by Gomel (2015), the researcher concluded that leadership is a factor that has a positive influence on employee retention across behavioral health settings, especially when the leadership strategies are consistent, mission-focused, and transformational.

The direct supervision style is another leadership practice that influences retention in behavioral healthcare. As highlighted in Herzberg's motivator and hygiene factors, leaders who provide direct clinical supervision and empower team members with a purpose, yield positive retention across organizations. Similarly, leaders who can reduce burnout and issues around salary, workplace issues, and executive issues also experience higher rates of employee retention (Gomel, 2015). In a study conducted by Hatch-Maillette et al. (2019), the researchers conducted a longitudinal examination of the retention of counselors across two distinct addiction treatment facilities in a two-year prior. The researchers concluded that of the 335 counselors studied, 74% of counselors turned over in the two-year study period. The main reasons for turnover were dissatisfaction with leadership and the organization (Hatch-Maillette et al., 2019). By creating a positive culture within an addiction treatment setting, leaders can anticipate higher employee retention rates over time.

Leadership style can also contribute to retention within addiction treatment. In a study of 25 treatment organizations in Philadelphia, PA, Stewart et al. (2021) examined the factors that facilitated organizational buy-in for medication-assisted treatment and organizational change behaviors. The researchers found that strong leadership skills and focused ideology increased the sustainability of organizational change efforts and

employee retention (Stewart et al., 2021). These skills included strategies such as clear communication, effective explanation for change initiatives, and collaboration (Stewart et al., 2021). Pedraza and Chen (2020) stated that positive working conditions and a satisfactory organizational climate contributed to a reduction in hygiene factors. These studies support Herzberg's theory in identifying leadership strategies to benefit employees and organizations.

Herzberg's theory has a rich history in the literature, and its utilization transcends time, industries, and employee groups. Given its historical utilization of employee motivation, the two-factor theory is ideal for exploring this study's research question.

Cleary et al. (2020) stated that the successful development of leadership strategies in healthcare professionals' results in improved outcomes for clients, teams, and organizations and enables organizations to lead through an ever-changing business environment. Using Herzberg's theoretical themes and subthemes, this researcher may identify the strategies that addiction treatment leaders can use to improved employee motivation in addiction treatment. High turnover rates in the industry result in poor organizational and patient outcomes and an ongoing burden for an industry committed to saving lives (Herschell et al., 2020). This study aims to solve this business problem.

Transition and Summary

In Section 1, I discussed the problem statement and purpose of the study. I reviewed academic literature highlighting leaders' strategies to increase motivation in healthcare and non-healthcare industries through the lens of Herzberg's theory. In the literature review, I looked at the history of Herzberg's theory since its inception,

Herzberg's theory in non-healthcare industries such as airlines, sporting events, and education, and Herzberg's theory in the healthcare industry to study doctors, nurses, and other emergency personnel. I also defined the behavioral health industry and highlighted the role of addiction treatment within the behavioral health space. I summarized Section 1 by discussing the themes and subthemes of Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation. Section 2 will discuss the data collection, analysis, and verification processes conducted for this study.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to identify addiction treatment leaders' strategies to improve employee motivation. The target population was addiction treatment leaders, including CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads across multiple addiction treatment facilities in the tri-state area surrounding New Jersey (New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania) that had demonstrated the ability to retain employees. Employee retention improves business profitability, and the implications for social change in retaining qualified and committed employees in the addiction treatment industry may have improved outcomes for individuals struggling with addiction. In addition to the benefits to addiction treatment businesses, clients receiving treatment may benefit from retaining employees who can consistently support them in achieving goals throughout their treatment journey.

Role of the Researcher

As a qualitative researcher, I was the primary instrument for the study. According to Yoon and Uliassi (2022), in qualitative research, the researcher has a significant role in data collection, interpretation, and presentation of findings. This topic is relevant and important to me as a licensed clinician and leader in the addiction treatment business. One of the main roles of a leader is to retain employees, and in the addiction treatment industry, this continues to be a challenge. My role as an addiction treatment leader increased my motivation to complete this study and discover findings that may positively influence leaders and the business.

My role as the researcher included identifying the research design and interview protocol and contacting participants for the study. My role also included collecting and analyzing data, maintaining participant understanding and confidentiality, and developing conclusions and findings based on data analysis. As the researcher, one of my main tasks was to clearly define the meaning of data at all points during the research process (Yoon & Uliassi, 2022). As a leader in the addiction treatment industry, I needed to limit bias on the topic and identify participants who responded to the research question.

I have been a leader in addiction treatment from 2012-2022. In that time, I have seen the value in employee retention, with employee motivation playing a crucial role in retention efforts. As an inspired leader with a personal investment in this field, my goal was to identify strategies for improving employee motivation in addiction treatment. I hope that business and societal changes can help reduce the overall burdens of lack of employee motivation. I remained aware of my lens on the topic and question biases throughout the research process.

Researcher bias occurs when researchers influence the outcomes of a study, whether consciously or subconsciously. Avoiding this bias is a primary responsibility of an ethical researcher (Romano et al., 2021). Understanding that personal bias is intrinsic to all human beings and overcoming obstacles that contribute to bias are essential. To reduce bias during my study, I adhered to the interview questions script (Appendix) during all interviews and avoided asking additional leading questions that did not help respond to the research question. After completing all interviews, I completed member checking. I conducted member checking by providing a summary of the responses back

to the participants to ensure accuracy. After completing each interview, I summarized the findings in a separate document and gave that to each participant to ensure that the summary matched their responses. Each participant provided verbalized confirmation of accuracy.

In maintaining appropriate ethics, I adhered to the standards set forth in the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) protocols and *The Belmont Report*, published by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *The Belmont Report* of 1978 ensures that ethical principles guide research with human beings, including standards regarding reducing risk to human participants, guidelines for selection, and consent to participate (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). The Belmont Report includes three overarching principles: respect, beneficence, and justice, and I held myself to the highest standards during my research process (Jefferson et al., 2021). I worked to mitigate bias during my interviews by ensuring data saturation. I used methodological triangulation after the interviews.

A researcher uses a case study design to explore a phenomenon in depth through the analysis of a select unit of participants (Farquhar et al., 2020). For my study, I triangulated the interviews with retention data across the organizations, publicly accessible organizational information, and internal data that highlighted employee motivation strategies and behaviors found within the organization. The internal data included employee satisfaction surveys, turnover data, retention data, and other available data sources. I also used data saturation to secure an appropriate sample size to ensure that the study is replicable in the future.

Participants

The participants met study requirements and had specific knowledge and experiences to answer the research question. Participants were eligible based on their leadership role in an addiction treatment organization, with titles that included CEO, director, supervisor, and lead. Chosen leaders possessed more than a year of leadership experience. To be eligible to participate, addiction treatment leaders had demonstrated experience and success in utilizing leadership strategies that increased employee motivation. Proof of demonstrated leadership strategies was identifiable through publicly accessible organization and leadership data, organizational turnover data, and any other data points available through the organization. I may complete a follow-up study and use a leadership questionnaire, such as the MLQ, as an additional data point to respond to the research question.

Organization documents, verbalized personal accounts, survey information, retention rates, and other data noted each leader's influence on employee motivation. The chosen leaders worked in multiple addiction treatment facilities in the tri-state area surrounding New Jersey (New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania). The region includes multiple addiction treatment providers, making it ideal for this study. I chose this region based on the ability to gain access to leaders of addiction treatment organizations, my knowledge of the number of individuals accessing addiction treatment in this region, and the ability to secure participants via purposive sampling.

Researchers must also utilize appropriate means for gaining access to participants.

Gaining appropriate participants for a study is one of the fundamental components of the

research process (Yin, 2018). Participant selection occurred through network and relational affiliations in the industry and direct identification and outreach to addiction treatment leaders in the identified region. This established network existed due to my experience in the industry. I also completed a LinkedIn post encouraging addiction treatment leaders in the tri-state area to participate if they had demonstrated success in increasing employee motivation in addiction treatment. Ease of access for participation was a priority. As stated by Hopkins and Schwanen (2022), research participants are donating their time to provide information on a topic, and researchers must use means and approaches that respect the time and commitment of all study participants. Emails, calls, and in-person visits were available for interested and appropriate participants. I also used archival information, website details, publicly accessible documents, and qualitative information from the organization to ensure that participants had demonstrated success in utilizing strategies that improved the study variables.

Building rapport and gaining consent from participants are also vital for any scholar. As stated by Davies (2022), informed consent is one of the most important components of a research study, which helps ensure the maintenance of ethical principles and participant understanding of roles and expectations. I provided the study's purpose and detailed information on the role of participant involvement to involved leaders. I gathered basic demographic information on participants, including name, gender, title, and years of relevant addiction treatment leadership experience. I refrained from using any identifiers for participants or the organizations they worked for, instead identifying each participant through identifiers based on their role. I then provided interview

questions to participants and took the time to respond to any questions that participants posed during this process. Gill et al. (2022) noted the importance of early and ongoing clarification and rapport-building during the research process, which I prioritized early in the study. I obtained documentation of informed consent for participants in the study.

Participants were also directly aligned with the research question. The participants were all addiction treatment leaders with demonstrated ability to respond to the following question: What strategies can addiction treatment leaders use to improve employee motivation? The research question was the primary tool to measure participant appropriateness, and vetting participants early and often in this process ensured an appropriate participant pool (Gill et al., 2022). By the end of the participant selection process, all involved parties were clear on expectations, provided informed consent to participate, and could respond to interview questions that answered the overall research question.

Research Design and Method

Research Design

I used a qualitative method to explore addiction treatment leaders' strategies to increase employee motivation. Qualitative research aims to understand specific phenomena through the lens of individuals and groups (Kekeya, 2021). A powerful desire to help people is the primary motivation of addiction treatment professionals. This perspective is unique, especially in the business world, and a qualitative approach was used to gather the needed themes to respond to the research question. A qualitative approach, including conducting interviews, exploring publicly available information, and

reviewing archival documents, was the most effective approach to use with this mission-driven population (Kekeya, 2021). A qualitative case study approach with these participants provided the detail needed to identify strategies that addiction treatment leaders note as beneficial in improving employee motivation.

For this multiple case study, I used an in-depth interview process across participants. I used an expert panel of three addiction treatment professionals to validate the interview questions prior to IRB submission. I ensured that chosen experts were unique to study participants, encompassing different leaders in the addiction treatment industry. I conducted in-depth interviews with 10 CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads. In-depth interviews provide details on an individual phenomenon, and this approach was ideal for this study (Dijkhuizen, 2021). In-depth interviews allowed me to gain necessary detail on the strategies that leaders use to increase employee motivation while also allowing for additional details outside specific questions from each participant. I used the same protocol for all interviews, starting with basic demographic questions, including name, gender, and years of leadership experience (Appendix).

To ensure data saturation, I conducted semistructured interviews with the 10 CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads of addiction treatment organizations at three unique treatment facilities. If additional interviews were necessary to ensure saturation at the conclusion of the interviews, I would reinitiate the purposive sampling process. I conducted member checking after the interviews by sharing my interpretations of the interviews and asking if there were questions or concerns with the interpretations. As Yin (2018) stated, in-depth interviews help in gathering information from individuals with

insights into important themes, affairs, or phenomena. Given the important leadership role of CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads in addiction treatment organizations and their perceived influence on worker motivation, in-depth interviews were most appropriate for these groups.

Population and Sampling

The population for this multiple case study consisted of CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads from addiction treatment facilities across New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania with demonstrated success in implementing strategies that improved employee motivation. The leadership titles of CEO, director, supervisor, and lead encompass most of the leadership roles within addiction treatment organizations, providing an efficient sample of leaders to answer the research question. According to Granikov et al. (2020), case studies help in exploring real-life phenomena in depth, with multiple case studies exploring the phenomena across multiple groups, organizations, or agencies. For this study, a multiple-case study approach provided information on the leadership strategies that are most effective in improving employee motivation based on information provided across the three unique addiction treatment facility teams. The use of purposeful sampling was appropriate given the limited number of addiction treatment leaders within the industry and the chosen region of study.

I deployed purposive sampling for this study. Researchers use purposeful sampling to study a heterogenous group and gauge interconnectedness and variability between variables (Granikov et al., 2020). In a purposeful sample, defining inclusion criteria for participants is important. The inclusion criteria for this study were (a)

addiction treatment leaders, inclusive of CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads; (b) overseeing facilities in the tri-state area surrounding New Jersey (New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania); (c) demonstrated success in utilization of leadership strategies that improved employee motivation; and (d) tenure of more than 1 year in a leadership role. In addition, I also used the information available on publicly accessible organization websites, organizational turnover data, and any other available organizational data to respond to the research question. Participant exclusion from the study occurred if participants did not meet the above criteria, were unable to provide information or respond to research questions, did not meet the demonstrated ability to utilize effective leadership strategies to influence study variables, or did not have availability to support the research process within a few months.

In qualitative research, the sample size required is not explicitly specified. According to Hennink and Kaiser (2022), data saturation is the guiding principle when it comes to appropriate sample size in qualitative research. The researcher achieves data saturation when there is an absence of new information obtained from participants in a study (Fofana et al., 2020). The sample size will vary as a qualitative researcher works to achieve data saturation. In a qualitative study, researchers have reached data saturation when the participants provide information to adequately respond to the research question, with additional interviews gleaning no new information to add to the response (Fofana et al., 2020). Hennink and Kaiser (2022) analyzed 31 qualitative articles to gauge sample size in data saturation, finding that samples ranged from five to 24 interviews. Granikov et al. (2020) noted that studies can have as few as three participants to reach data

saturation. For this study, the sample size factored in time and resource constraints. To ensure data saturation and the ability to gather data from all leadership subsets within the addiction treatment industry, I conducted in-depth interviews with CEOs and seven midlevel managers from three unique treatment centers. I achieved data saturation when I was unable to identify additional themes or categories through coding and when I had enough information to feel confident that the study was replicable. The interview environment was quiet, comfortable, and confidential, allowing for detailed information and openness.

I chose research participants based on their experience, knowledge, and ability to provide meaningful information to respond to the research question. Researchers must create the setting and environment to receive adequate data from participants in response to the research question (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). I conducted interviews with participants during days and times they identified as appropriate for them, and given my ability to meet with participants face to face, I offered this approach to all participants. I also offered Zoom as another option for participants. Participants had the opportunity to select a 45-minute time that worked best for their schedule. I prepared the interview protocol before interviews and assembled a structure for questioning that allowed me to be prepared and free to have a dynamic conversation with participants around the structure of the identified questions.

I utilized semistructured interviews as the format for my qualitative interviews. As stated by Walker et al. (2021), in semistructured interviews, researchers pose openended questions to explore phenomena in qualitative research. This format has shown

significant benefit within social sciences and healthcare research. Given the identified benefit, I utilized semistructured interviews for this study. I conducted these interviews in person and via Zoom, which has become a popular format for interviews and meetings since COVID-19. I provided both options to participants to accommodate their needs and schedule.

Ethical Research

Adhering to ethical standards is essential for any researcher. As stated by

Newman et al. (2021), qualitative research enables the in-depth exploration of
individuals' lived experiences, providing insight and shared knowledge between
researcher and participant. Given the immersive experience and detail obtained through
the qualitative process, the researcher must be cognizant of ethical practices during the
research process. Prioritization of ethical guidelines in research ensures the maintenance
of human freedom and dignity during the study process. As a researcher, I maintained a
deep respect for ethical principles throughout the research process (Taquette & de Matta
Souza, 2022). Informed consent is the process where research participants willingly
engage in the research process, gain awareness of the purpose of the study, and become
informed of the requirements and limitations of confidentiality (Mwaka & Horn, 2019).
Ensuring informed consent was a foundational component of ethical research, and I
prioritized this step at the onset of the research process.

Participation in a study is voluntary, whereby participants can withdraw at any time. Many qualitative studies, especially in healthcare, ask interviewees in-depth questions on sensitive topics and may result in some level of discomfort for the

participant (Taquette & de Matta Souza, 2022). It is the responsibility of the researcher to make participants aware of their right to withdraw from the study process at any time. It is also the researcher's responsibility to protect research participants while gathering data that can help build a quality study (Taquette & de Matta Souza, 2022). Transparency is essential from the onset of the study and researchers should remain vigilant in maintaining principles of ethical research throughout the study process.

At the onset of the study, I provided each participant with an informed consent form that indicates the study's purpose, expectations of participants, and standards of confidentiality. I responded directly to any participants who had questions about the informed consent form or process via email and phone call. I required all participants to respond via email before the interviews with a statement of "I consent," before initiating. I made interviewees aware that they can stop the interview at any time to have no participants withdraw from the interview process. I did not offer incentives to participate in this study.

Maintaining the confidentiality of participants and information provided is another guiding principle of ethical research. Confidentiality in research includes the protection of all participants identifying information and reports (Taquette & de Matta Souza, 2022). I will retain confidential documents and patient information for my study for five years. I coded demographic identifiers such as name and title with initials, and the leadership coding system highlighted below. I refrained from using any identifiers for participants or the organizations they work for, instead identifying each participant through identifiers based on their role. I coded CEOs as L1 through L3. I coded middle-

level managers, including directors, supervisors, and leads, as M1 through M7. I avoided any direct reference to the specific treatment facility, region, or other identifiers that could violate the confidentiality of participants.

As a licensed clinician in the addiction treatment industry, I am familiar with ethical codes and standards that guide best practices in my field. I aligned many of these ethical codes to my research study. By aligning with ethical standards as a component of this research, I ensured rigor in the research process and trust among participants (Newman et al., 2021). I reviewed *The Belmont Report* for guidelines and best practices in ethical research. *The Belmont Report* includes three overarching principles, respect, beneficence, and justice, and I held myself to the highest standards during my research process (Jefferson et al., 2021). I reviewed the Walden University Internal Review Board (IRB) information and approval process to ensure that my study aligns with all applicable standards and processes. I awaited IRB approval before initiating the research process.

I stored interviews and data collection on a hard drive and saved in a locked cabinet at my home office. The hard drive is password protected, and I will save the data for five years. After the five years, I will destroy the data through software that permanently deletes files. I stored any additional paper documents in the same locked cabinet and will shred after five years. By using these storage strategies, I will maintain confidentiality from the start of the study through the destruction process. The IRB approval number for this study is 11-29-22-1077112.

Data Collection Instruments

As the researcher, I was the primary instrument for this qualitative study. Wray and Barrett (2022) state that qualitative research includes a rich data collection process through in-person interviews, surveys, and other qualitative collection processes. The three types of data collection used for this study were (a) semistructured interviews with ten addiction treatment leaders, including CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads in three unique addiction treatment facilities, (b) a review of the literature on employee motivation in addiction treatment organizations, and (c) any available references, data points, archival information, or survey information on the organization's employee motivation strategies and retention efforts. Wray and Barrett (2022) note the value of inperson data collection but realize that the influence of geographically diverse participants and COVID-19 have increased virtual data collection in qualitative research. I used a combination of in-person and Zoom interviews for the semistructured interviews.

Semistructured interviews are valuable in qualitative studies. Semistructured interviews provide real-world detail on phenomena through the lens of the interviewee's unique social, cultural, and experiences (Price & Smith, 2021). Semistructured interviews provide specific questions that every interviewee will respond to, with the ability to build rapport and engage the participant in additional context and detail. As Mahat-Shamir et al. (2021) noted, qualitative semistructured interviews provide an individual's unique perspective through face-to-face, virtual, telephonic, written, and other data collection techniques. My research question explored the strategies leaders use to increase employee motivation within addiction treatment, and semistructured interviews provide the best

framework to gather the detail and narrative that helped build the findings for my study (Mahat-Shamir et al., 2021). I used the same interview protocol for all semistructured interviews. A sample of the interview protocol is in the Appendix.

I conducted thorough interviews with the three CEOs, directors, supervisors, and leads through the semistructured interview process. I started with four demographic questions and coded them appropriately to maintain confidentiality. I asked seven openended questions. I also engaged participants in probing questions around the seven initial open-ended questions, resulting in more rich and more diverse responses across participants. I recorded the interviews on my phone app or Zoom, with permission from all participants. I took additional notes on a separate piece of paper to ensure a thorough collection of information from all participants.

I ensured the reliability and validity of the data collection instruments by ensuring voluntary participation, triangulation of multiple data methods, and member checking after the interviews. Methodological triangulation helps ensure that multiple data methods and sources help gain a comprehensive understanding of a phenomenon, which will be essential in my study (Farquhar et al., 2020). I completed methodological triangulation through a review of the literature and available documentation from the organization on employee motivation strategies and outcomes. In reviewing the literature, I used available annual reports on employee motivation and employee retention in addiction treatment and documented research on statistics involving employee motivation in addiction treatment. I also analyzed the organization's website, annual reports, survey information, and other publicly available information to triangulate my data.

I conducted member checking by providing a summary of the responses back to the participants to ensure accuracy. After completing each interview, I summarized the findings in a separate document and gave that to each participant to ensure that the summary matched their responses. Each participant provided verbalized confirmation of accuracy. I ensured voluntary participation throughout the process, with participants aware of their ability to withdraw from the study at any time. No participants withdrew from the study.

Data Collection Technique

I used face-to-face and zoom semistructured interviews to collect data in this qualitative case study. Individual interviews allow researchers to gather detailed information on participants' unique thoughts, perspectives, opinions, and experiences on a given topic (Wray & Barrett, 2022). For my study, semistructured interviews helped gather detailed information on my research question. I utilized semistructured interviews across all ten participants for this study.

The benefit of providing participants the option between face-to-face and Zoom meetings is two-fold. Participants could identify the format that was most ideal for their schedule and comfortable for them in responding to questions. The formats also allowed me to gain necessary information while being able to ask follow-up questions in an appropriate setting. The virtual zoom offering was ideal for most participants, given the distance from the interviewer, travel limitations, associated costs, and ease of access (Wray & Barrett, 2022). The face-to-face data collection technique was ideal for a few participants who benefit from a relational interview approach, are within a short driving

distance from the interviewer, and have time available to coordinate the meeting. Some facilities are continuing to take precautions post-pandemic, and by using a hybrid model of data collection techniques, I was able to gather the necessary data while aligning with the safety precautions of the facility. Wray and Barrett (2022) note that COVID-19 brought about diverse ways of collecting data in research, and though the benefits outweigh the disadvantages, there are still challenges associated with virtual data collection. Offering options ensures the safety of participants and flexibility within the research process.

One limitation of virtual data collection techniques involves technology issues. Remote connection options such as Zoom can pose connectivity issues, bandwidth concerns, and slow internet. Issues may also arise in the user's ability to navigate the virtual platform (Wray & Barrett, 2022). Fortunately, I did not have these issues while conducting virtual interviews. All participants who choose the virtual platform to conduct interviews completed the interviews, engaged directly with me, and avoided issues specific to remote engagement. I used member checking to ensure accuracy across virtual interviews. I conducted member checking by providing a summary of the responses back to the participants to ensure accuracy. After completing each interview, I summarized the findings in a separate document and gave that to each participant to ensure that the summary matched their responses.

Data Organization Technique

Qualitative case studies help researchers gather in-depth data on a contemporary phenomenon. Subjective information gained from lived experiences can help provide

meaningful context within a study (Granikov et al., 2020). The data compiled through this process served as the backbone of the study, and I took pride in ensuring its accuracy and protection. I initiated my study by ensuring that the space in which I conducted the interview, either in-person or virtually, was free of outside noise and conducive to a quiet and confidential interview process. I then ensured that all participants understood the informed consent process, verbalized understanding, and sent an email with a written "I consent" acknowledgment. I ensured a full charge for my phone and laptop at the start of Zoom meetings and interview recording sessions.

I secured recordings on my phone and then transferred them to a password-protected flash drive. I secured this flash drive in a locked cabinet in my home office. I also secured written notes that I took during each of the interviews in the same locked cabinet. I used coding to identify the leaders, L1 through L3 for the CEO group and M1 through M7 for the middle manager group of directors, supervisors, and leads. I used this coding on both recorded interviews and written documentation. I created and transferred each recorded interview in an electronic file labeled L1, M1, etc. I will save the data for five years, at which time I will delete the contents of the flash drive through an erasure software program. I will shred all confidential documents.

Data Analysis

According to Yin (2018), there are five phases to qualitative data analysis: compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding. I adhered to Yin's (2018) five-phase model for my study and organized data accordingly to ensure thorough data analysis. For step one, I compiled semistructured interviews for the ten leaders, as

well as archival and organizational information provided or publicly accessible. Step two included disassembling and in this stage, I began identifying themes from the interviews that aligned with my research question. In step three, I reassembled themes to identify interview patterns and compare findings specific to my research question. As I interpreted my findings, I started to give credibility to continued themes and patterns within the coding. Finally, I drew conclusions based on this process and responded to my research question.

I deployed methodological triangulation and data review to maintain the credibility for my study. Methodological triangulation uses multiple methods to study a phenomenon (Dzwigol & Dzwigol-Barosz, 2020). I used information and data from the literature, as well as available survey and archival information applicable to my study variables to conduct triangulation for my study. I also used publicly available information from each organization's website. I used Microsoft Excel and NVivo software to sort and analyze data. I also utilized Microsoft Word to transcribe and summarize participant interviews.

For this study, I used thematic analysis to analyze data. According to Sezgin et al. (2019), thematic analysis is a method for analyzing data in qualitative research, with coding used to represent recurring statements and acknowledgments within data points. Researchers consider this approach foundational to all qualitative analysis, making it an ideal choice for my study (Saunders et al., 2015). For my study, I used hand coding and NVivo software to identify themes from participant interviews. Participant identifiers remained confidential, with CEOs coded as L1 through L3 and middle managers coded as

M1 through M7. After summarizing each interview, I conducted member checking via email with each participant, receiving written agreement on the information provided. I conducted a handwritten analysis of each interview, identifying and assigning unique themes. These themes aligned with my study variables and research question. I then entered the information into NVivo software to identify subthemes from the major themes. As detailed above, I conducted a thorough process with close maintenance to Yin's (2018) five-step process.

I utilized codes and themes to compile data into meaningful clusters. According to Saunders et al. (2015), coding entails labeling each data unit within a data set. I became familiar with my data after thoroughly reviewing and coding the initial set of data that directly aligned with my research question. The next step in my analysis was to identify themes within the codes. I assembled and disassembled the data multiple times and ruled out negative cases. Negative cases do not support the remainder of the themes and the theory on which you are basing your study (Saunders et al., 2015). I reassembled the data when I was confident with the final themes and made logical conclusions from the information. The key themes aligned with my research question and aligned with the themes of Herzberg's two-factor theory, which is the conceptual framework I used as the lens to examine variables for my study.

Through this process, I was mindful of thematic saturation, paying attention to any new themes or codes identified in my analysis. According to Hennink and Kaiser (2022), thematic saturation is a component of data saturation in qualitative research whereby the researcher notes redundant codes and themes without introducing new

themes. Focusing on this saturation point helped me identify if the sample size was appropriate for the study. Codes and themes were similar and redundant as I coded interviews, providing confidence that the sample size was appropriate, and alerting me when I had reached data saturation.

Trustworthiness in Research

Trustworthiness is an essential component of qualitative research. According to Yin (2018), trustworthiness ensures rigor and acceptability in qualitative studies.

According to Adler (2022), trustworthiness ensures transparency in qualitative research.

By ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research, a researcher can verify the credibility, confirmability, dependability, and transferability of the findings. I obtained trustworthiness for this study through the following steps.

Credibility

Credibility is the process of ensuring study validity from the perspective of participants (Yin, 2018). I ensured credibility in my study through member checking, the use of a standard interview protocol, triangulating the data, and participant verification. Member checking helps verify that participants validate the information that the researcher interpreted during interviews for credibility (Coleman, 2021). Using a standard interview protocol also helped ensure the credibility of data and findings. Methodological triangulation of data is another way to ensure credibility. Member checking, use of a standard interview protocol (Appendix), methodological triangulation, and participant verification were all used for this study.

Confirmability

In qualitative research, confirmability occurs through verified findings by other external sources (Coleman, 2021). Confirmability is another process to maintain validity throughout a study. I utilized member checking, participant verification, and methodological triangulation in this study to ensure confirmability. I also used archival information and organization data points to ensure confirmability within the study.

Dependability

Dependability in qualitative research is similar to reliability in quantitative research. In qualitative research, a study is dependable when the findings are consistent and replicable across researchers and time (Saunders et al., 2015). By clearly articulating the step-by-step process taken in the qualitative research process, researchers can create a followable "audit trail" for future researchers to ensure dependability (Coleman, 2021, p. 2042). In qualitative research, verifiable dependability occurs through member checking, multiple coding, and expert review (Coleman, 2021). The use of member checking ensures dependability for this study, and I used the same interview protocol (Appendix) across all participants. I verified all recording devices and test to ensure the gathering of reliable data.

Transferability

According to Coleman (2021), studies possess transferability when they are applicable across other contexts. This process ensures that data and findings are not specific to only one study but generalizable across the study population. By adhering to a specific research process, I ensured transferability during the research process. I followed

a strict process for conducting and recording interviews, use the standard interview protocol for all in-depth and interviews (Appendix), reached data saturation, verified completion of steps through Yin's (2018) five-phase data analysis process, and used member checking and methodological triangulation throughout the data collection and analysis processes.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of the qualitative multiple case study was to identify addiction treatment leaders' strategies to improved employee motivation. Section 2 consisted of a description of the study's purpose, the researcher's role, and the participants' description. There was also a description of the research method and design, the population used in the study, and a discussion of the ethical standards adhered to during the research process. The details provided on the data collection, organization, analysis, and deployed strategies helped ensure reliability and validity during the qualitative case study. In Section 3, I will discuss the findings of the study. The themes highlighted may be opportunities for ongoing study and research. There is also information about the implications for social change, reflections, and conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to identify addiction treatment leaders' strategies to improve employee motivation. Ten addiction treatment leaders from three unique organizations in the area surrounding New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania provided me with data to answer my research question. Based on the participants' responses to the interview questions, I identified four themes: (a) employee and peer relationships; (b) recognition, praise, and promotions; (c) adequate compensation; and (d) working environment. The outcome of the study indicated that addiction treatment leaders utilize employee and peer relationships; recognition, praise, and promotions; adequate compensation; and working environment as strategies to increase motivation in their business. A presentation of the findings, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, proposals for action and more research, reflections, and a conclusion are included in this section.

Table 2

Emergent Themes

Nodes/Themes	Number of	Number of times the theme was
	respondents	addressed
Employee & peer relationships	10	35
Recognition/praise/promotions	10	31
Adequate compensation	10	27
Working environment	10	26

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for this study was the following: What strategies do addiction treatment leaders use to increase employee motivation?

Researchers have demonstrated that when leaders have the needed strategies to engage their employees in the behavioral health industry, motivation will increase (Stelson et al., 2022). There has been less research exploring these strategies in the addiction treatment business, and this study identified four themes that increase employee motivation.

I assigned the numbers M1, M2, M3, M4, M5, M6, M7, L1, L2, and L3 to identify each of the 10 respondents to ensure confidentiality in data collection. I used the NVivo software program to identify and code initial similarities and themes in the data I collected. I checked the data manually for redundancy in themes. From the content analysis, there were four themes that emerged. It was from those themes that I derived strategies that addiction treatment leaders use to increase employee motivation. These strategies included employee and peer relationships; recognition, praise, and promotions; adequate compensation; and working environment. The four themes that emerged from my thematic analysis of the participants' responses to the interview questions are presented in the following subsections.

Theme 1: Employee and Peer Relationships

Addiction treatment is a challenging industry to be employed in, with many employees coming to the industry based on lived experience or purposeful motivation. The business stressors indicative of addiction treatment cause strain on individual employees and the workforce as a whole, increasing the need for relational strategies amongst leaders (Stelson et al., 2022). The findings from my study highlight the uniqueness of this business, as well as the influx of mission-driven employees who

support the business. As a result, fostering relationships amongst employees and peers was a successful strategy used by the leadership group surveyed.

Many employees enter into addiction treatment based on lived experience or a personal purpose that brought them to the industry. Respondents discussed inclusion of mission-driven employees in their business in responses to Interview Questions 1, 2, and 5 and noted the value of relationship building in invigorating this purpose, motivating, and retaining employees. As stated by Fong et al. (2021), when leaders are able to foster positive working relationships with their employees, they will experience high levels of motivation and job satisfaction. Two of the participants stated that employee motivation in addiction treatment is "all about relationships," noting the value of learning about employees on a personal basis and encouraging a balance between their work and personal lives. Another participant, L1, highlighted the value of relationships in addiction treatment recovery and how this transcends across employees. He stated,

Recovery is all about relationships. The provision of addiction treatment is also all about relationships. Leadership is all about relationships. It includes being available, having a collaborative approach, soliciting ideas, keeping your ego in check, convincing people that their ideas are your ideas. My job is to make sure that everyone is rowing the boat in the same direction. People will work hard for someone they perceive as a good leader; someone who is doing the right things.

This participant noted that building relationships with members of a team increases the likelihood that they will invest in the organizational mission and remain with the facility over time.

Similar notations to the value of relationship building in motivating addiction treatment employees were stated across participants. Participant M3 noted the value of building these relationships from the start of an employee's tenure. He stated,

It's all about relationships. From the start of an employee's tenure, we are calling them, texting them, and ensuring that they are aligned with our mission. From the moment they come through our door, we are trying to get to know them on a more personal level.

Participants echoed this sentiment, discussing the challenges associated with addiction treatment work and the value of creating relationships with team members that foster a strong organizational mission and cohesion. Participant M2 stated that he gets to know his team "as people," rather than just employees. According to him, this personal connection fosters a facility-cohesion that is needed to motivate employees in the addiction treatment industry. Leader L1 also stated that he has seen employees stay with the organization when relationships are solid, even when offered a higher paying job elsewhere. He stated, "I have had multiple scenarios where employees would stay here and make less money and less of a comp package because they have a really good working relationship with their leader and team."

Multiple participants also discussed the unique relationships that leaders build with employees based on the unique workforce that enters into the industry. Many employees who work in addiction treatment are in personal recovery, and this can create a purpose-driven workforce. The value of the leader-employee relationship, specifically in impacting motivation, is vital (Skinner & Roche, 2021). Participant M4 discussed the

number of employees in his business who enter the field because they are in personal recovery or know someone who has been impacted by addiction. He stated,

The path to recovery was a life altering moment for many employees, and if you can put your employees in a position where they feel they are sharing that passion and impact with others, you're going to get a real return.

Multiple participants highlighted the value of building personal relationships with their employees to identify what motivates and inspires them to work in the industry. Leaders M1, M3, M4, M5, M6, L1, L2, and L3 specifically noted the building of these relationships as valuable strategies in improving employee motivation.

The benefits of relationship building were noted as valuable from leaders across all employee groups, but a focus on entry-level employee relationships was noted by 60% of the participants. Participant L3 noted that turnover is often highest in the departments that are "entry-level, patient-facing," and as a leader, she overcomes these challenges by fostering positive relationships with her leaders and across teams. Forty percent of the participants in the study highlighted the focus on building relationships with direct care employees. Many participants stated that these employees face challenges unlike other employee groups: entry-level, challenging work with patients, and low salary and incentives. Participant M4 discussed his role as a mentor to this group and identified "continued growth and retention as outcomes that highlight the positive impact of relationships on motivation." He stated that he "gets to know his team personally, and is committed to their growth and development," which elicits high levels of motivation from the employee.

Addiction treatment leaders can also increase employee motivation by helping foster peer relationships in the workplace. Peers with lived experience working in the behavioral health industry have been increasing over the last few decades (Gaiser et al., 2021). Participant M3 stated that "upwards of 60–70% of his team are in personal recovery," highlighting the need for strategies to increase these peer engagements. Eighty percent of the respondents noted the value of these peer relationships in increasing motivation. He noted employees in his facility who had better opportunities externally who stayed employed due to the "people they worked with."

Participant M7 stated that peer relationships are a "really, really big deal," highlighting that having positive working relationships with peers can reduce turnover intentions and increase buy-in to the business and mission. Participant M2 stated that "the emotional investment of employees is amplified or deflated by peer relationships and the desire of a team to be bigger than themselves." The value of fostering peer relationships to increase employee motivation was prevalent throughout the interviews.

In relation to fostering peer relationships as a strategy, multiple leaders noted the value of hiring the right employees. Leader L2 stated that "peer relationships are very valuable motivators," and by hiring the right team members and emphasizing cultural and team fit, motivation across the entire team and organization increases. Participant M5 noted the positive role that peer relationships had in her motivation and growth as a leader, emphasizing the role of peer relationships to "grow and excel" in addiction treatment. She stated that peers in addiction treatment have a shared work experience,

unlike many other professions, fostering a shared experience, understanding, and motivation for the work done in the industry.

Participant L3 discussed the unique combination of employees with lived behavioral health experiences and those without those experiences. She noted that addiction treatment is a unique industry that brings together individuals in personal recovery and those who have never used a substance to help patients get well. She stated that this dichotomy helps employees "come together on a personal level to humanize the concept of addiction." She highlighted her role in fostering those peer relationships and noted the increase in employee motivation through the shared employee experience, as well as the positive impact on patient treatment and outcomes.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Relationships with supervisors are noted as a hygiene factor in Herzberg's twofactor theory of motivation. Sobaih and Hasanein (2020) noted the value of positive
working relationships between employees and leaders in improving motivation and job
satisfaction. Relationships between peers are also considered a hygiene factor that
increases motivation and reduces overall job dissatisfaction for employees (Sobaih &
Hasanein, 2020). In this study, relationships between leaders and employees and amongst
peers were the most prominent themes impacting motivation as verbalized by the
participant group. Alrawahi et al. (2020) validated the impact of relationships in a study
of medical laboratory professionals in Oman. According to Alrawahi et al., when
supervisors prioritized supervisory and peer relationships in the hospital environment,

motivation and job satisfaction improved. The findings of this study support the literature and Herzberg's conceptual framework.

Correlation to the Literature

The importance of relationships in improving employee motivation in addiction treatment was a key finding in this study. Filteau et al. (2022) noted that employees who enter the addiction treatment industry are typically looking for more than just a job and ultimately join the industry for a higher calling. When leaders are able to build relationships that strengthen this purpose, employees are retained. In a study conducted by Skinner and Roche (2021), the interpersonal relationship between supervisor and employee contributed to improved employee health and well-being, motivation, and retention. Meza et al. (2021) also discussed the positive impact of relationship building between first-level managers and direct care staff in behavioral health. The author noted that when leaders invest in relationships with direct care staff, turnover is reduced and motivation is increased (Meza et al., 2021). The value of this leadership relationship with direct care, entry-level staff was identified as valuable by participants in this study.

The role of peer relationships was also noted as a valuable strategy for increasing motivation in this study. Gagne et al. (2018) stated that behavioral health facilities are adding peers to the workforce at greater rates than before due to improved motivation of the workforce and improved patient outcomes. Research has indicated that this workforce is relatable to the patients served but also creates a sense of purpose amongst fellow employees (Gaiser et al., 2021). The research indicates that peers bring "shared understanding, respect, and mutual empowerment" to patient care, but this study

demonstrates that they bring the same to peers in the workforce (Gaiser et al., 2021, p. 204). Counselors in addiction treatment are noted to benefit from positive peer relationships in the workplace, as are nurses, who identify peer relationships as positive contributors to workplace motivation and happiness (Garza & Taliaferro, 2021; Hatch-Mailette et al., 2019). Leaders who prioritize peer relationships in the addiction treatment industry can expect improved motivation and retention.

Theme 2: Recognition, Praise, and Promotions

The second theme noted in this study was the impact of recognition, praise, and promotions on improving employee motivation. When employees feel valued in their role within addiction treatment, their level of motivation and work output increases (Tsounis et al., 2017). The respondents noted the role of recognition, praise, and promotions in responses to Interview Questions 1 and 4 for the study. Of the 10 participants surveyed, eight identified these factors as imperative for motivation, while two noted both benefits and potential downfalls of their utilization. Recognition and praise were highlighted as regular strategies used by all 10 participants. Seven out of the 10 participants noted the use of promotional opportunities as a valuable strategy to motivate employees in their business.

Most of the leaders surveyed emphasized the value of recognition, praise, and promotions as strategies for increasing employee motivation. Participants M3, M5, and L1 stated that they recognize their employees daily for their hard work, through emails, rounding, and as stated by M5, "just being present for them." Participant L2 stated that he "manages by walking around," sharing praise and recognition with employees as he

rounds the building. Participants M2, M4, M6, L1, and L3 highlighted the use of client survey comments, employee recognition comments, and organizational shout outs as strategies to recognize and praise their employees. Participants M7, L1, L2, and L3 also specifically discussed other ways that they celebrate employees, including birthday celebrations, ice cream socials, staff award ceremonies, spirit weeks, employee of the month events, baby showers, and other events. Participants L2, M1, and M2 also highlighted the recognition and praise provided to employees through committees and annual facility events. They all indicated that these events highlight the individual and collaborative achievements of the organization, while increasing motivation for those involved.

Four of the 10 respondents noted the value of public displays of recognition and praise, as opposed to individual ones, in improving employee motivation. Participants L1 and L3 discussed their role in recognizing team members in public forums such as appreciation luncheons, committees, and facility-wide meetings. Participant L2 emphasized the role of recognition and praise, particularly in a group setting:

Everyone likes to hear great things. Internal recognition programs, parking spots, and other means of recognition are great, but most impactful is the public recognition that someone's work made a difference. The public recognition to teams and peers is very important. Roles and titles matter less in this approach; all team members love to hear about their great work and overall impact. It helps drive motivation.

Participants M1 and L1 noted that these group forums can create feedback loops whereby leaders can get real-time feedback on whether the strategy is working.

For the two participants who identified positive and negative aspects of recognition and praise, they both emphasized the use of balance with this strategy. Participant M2 stated that recognition and praise can be a "mixed-bag" when it comes to improving employee motivation. He noted that recognizing and celebrating his employees is beneficial, but stated that "over acknowledging successes can set employees up for a false sense of security." A similar sentiment was shared by leader M4. He noted the value of recognition and praise, not just for the employee but to increase healthy competition and motivation within the department. Conversely, he discussed the detriment that can come from using these strategies. He stated that recognition, praise, and promotions, can limit motivation when employees are consistently seeing these strategies used on their peers, rather than in their roles. He noted that when an employee consistently watches recognition, praise, and promotions go to others, this can be demotivating.

The use of promotional opportunities within addiction treatment noted as a positive strategy in 80% of the participants. With many employees in entry-level roles with lived experiences, being promoted from within is a strong motivator (Gagne et al., 2018). Promotional opportunities were clearly indicated as motivating strategies by seven of the ten respondents. Participant M6 stated that he "regularly promotes strong members of his team," which increases the intrinsic motivation of that employee, as well as

employees around them. He has created a department built on promotions, providing ongoing motivation for all members of the team.

Respondent M4 discussed his role as a supervisor with entry-level employees and the significant ongoing impact of promotions on motivation. Participant estimated that approximately "50% of his turnover in the last two years was due to internal promotions." He noted the use of internal growth as a motivation and retention metric within his business. He stated, "all open positions are posted internally first, and are typically filled by internal team members." Both participant M4 and L3 noted this promotion strategy as a valuable component of increasing employee motivation.

Participants, M1 and L1 also highlighted the value of promoting from within on employee motivation, especially in retaining the employee and the mission-driven culture of the organization.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Herzberg noted the role of recognition, praise, and promotional opportunities on employees in the workplace. He identified these strategies as motivating factors, and when increased by leadership, employee motivation and retention should also increase (Sharma et al., 2022). Recent literature highlights the value of recognition and growth on employees in healthcare, especially in challenging work environments such as addiction treatment. According to Karaferis et al. (2022) recognizing employees for their hard work and fostering their growth in the organization has a motivating impact on the entire workforce. This study supports the research findings. Leaders in addiction treatment

noted the value of using recognition, praise, and promotions as tools to motivate their employees.

Correlation to the Literature

In an industry that is people-focused, recognizing employees for their efforts and promoting from within are strategies that create buy-in and retention. Kelly and Hearld (2020) state that burnout can be reduced in behavioral health employees when leaders are using a style that is supportive, empathetic, and helps employees make the connection between their internal purpose and the work they do. By recognizing, praising, and promoting employees in addiction treatment, leaders are creating a healthy environment in which employees feel a part of the greater purpose. When employees do not feel valued or appreciated in this type of workplace, turnover will increase (Herschell et al., 2020). In the unique business of addiction treatment, these strategies are crucial for engaging employees and increasing motivation.

Theme 3: Adequate Compensation

The need for adequate compensation in addiction treatment was the third theme identified in this study. The respondents noted the role of adequate compensation in Interview Questions 1, 3 and 5 for the study, highlighting the ways that fair and equitable salaries and incentives improved employee motivation. Eight out of ten participants highlighted the need for competitive salaries and incentives in motivating employees. Five participants stated that though fair and competitive compensation can serve as an initial motivator, the presence of other strategies are needed to sustain motivation. Many participants discussed the challenges of leading addiction treatment organizations when

discussing finances. Addiction treatment is often a low reimbursed business, which provides little financial incentive for employees in the facility.

Participant M1 discussed the role of fair and competitive salaries and incentives in his workforce, especially for employees with credentials and professional licenses. He stated, "finances are one of the elephants in the room when talking about employees. We have to create a culture where you are appreciated, but often not rewarded in that way, and it is a tricky thing." Participant M3 discussed a similar strategy. He noted that "salaries need to be competitive for the job that's being performed," and it can be demotivating to qualified employees when they are not receiving fair and equitable pay.

Three of the respondents also discussed the increased role of competitive salary and incentives in addiction treatment employees over time. L1 stated that he has been in the addiction treatment industry for 15 years, and historically the "passion for the work" was the primary motivator for employees. He stated that over the last few years, "money has become more important to people" in addiction treatment, with employees focused on being paid fairly for the work they do and the benefits they will receive. Participant M1 emphasized the same changes in the industry over time. This same change in the industry was discussed by participant M4. When discussing addiction treatment, he stated,

It's a very, very fast growing field, and it has been growing for a while. You would think it would slow down at some point, but it only seems to go faster.

Because of that, you do have new organizations, new facilities, who are opening up who want the best talent and are willing to pay for it. So, if you're an

established facility, a big barrier is staying competitive so that you can retain your top talent.

The importance of using salary and incentives as a motivating strategy was clearly noted as the industry continues to grow and evolve.

Many participants discussed the role of COVID on the need to prioritize salary and incentives for employees. Participant L3 stated that during COVID, disciplines such as nurses and therapists could receive higher rates for the same work, creating challenges in addiction treatment to retain the workforce. The pandemic increased the need for use of this strategy to motivate employees. M1 discussed similar challenges, noting the challenges of sustaining employees during COVID, especially when employees "could work in private practices or remotely for higher salaries." This hygiene factor was also highlighted by participant L3, who noted that the pandemic created challenges that "emphasized the need for fair and equitable compensation for addiction treatment employees." As she stated, when employees can make more money at competitors or in less-challenging work environments, leaders must be cognizant of the role of compensation in driving motivation.

Finally, four of the participants discussed the need for incentives within their direct line staff as a strategy to motivate. Participant L3 discussed incentives that are typically provided to employees who steer admissions for the facility, but the direct care employees who are working with patients are often neglected in this process. As a leader, she noted the value of providing fair and equitable salaries and incentives for those employees to sustain motivation where it matters most; with the patients. Both participant

M5 and L2 discussed similar needs within their business, highlighting the role that inequitable incentives across employee groups can have on their business. L2 stated that employees "all talk about their salaries in this business," and when an employee who is doing a challenging role does not receive the same incentives as another employee, this can negatively impact motivation. These leaders emphasized the need for fair and equitable salaries and incentives across employee groups to sustain motivation in their facilities.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

The findings of the study are aligned with the conceptual framework and supported in the literature. In Herzberg's theory of motivation, hygiene factors are components of a workplace that prevent demotivation and job dissatisfaction (Park et al., 2020). Salary and incentives are hygiene factors that when used appropriately, should limit the job dissatisfaction of employees in the workforce (Nagpaul et al., 2022). In this study, all participants noted the value of fair and competitive compensation. Mahmud et al. (2023) studied the motivation behaviors of community-based direct care employees, finding that many took on these challenging jobs to enter the workforce, or fulfill a larger purpose, with many leaving upon finding competitive salaries elsewhere. This factor is supported in this study, with a similar mission-driven workforce, and when compensation is not prioritized, motivation will decrease.

Correlation to the Literature

Multiple participants discussing the role of COVID and the growth of the industry as reasons to utilize these strategies. These factors are prominent in recent literature,

especially in discussing nursing turnover. Both Lee and Lee (2022) and Richards and Kieffer (2022) note the value of competitive salaries for nurses, especially in retaining qualified and committed employees. As stated by Nagpaul et al. (2022), the pandemic created competitive salaries and incentives for workers, and if not used as a strategy in workplaces, this can be a hygiene factor that negatively impacts employee motivation. The study reinforces the model specific to Herzberg's conceptual framework.

Recent studies mirror the findings of this study. In a study of 294 addiction treatment employees, McEntee et al. (2021) found that higher turnover was found in employees who were underpaid or on fixed-term contracts, with little room for financial growth. This study validates the findings of this research project, especially given its specific focus on addiction treatment employees. The value of rewards in motivating employees was also noted by Scanlan and Still (2019) in a study of 277 mental health professionals. Similar findings were noted by Roche et al. (2013) in a quantitative study of Indigenous Australian addiction treatment employees. In the study, ensuring adequate and equitable salaries and benefits were found to increase employee motivation and reduce burnout (Roche et al., 2013). The literature clearly highlights the role of this hygiene factor, but emphasizes that its usage with other motivating factors will yield better outcomes. This strategy was noted in 50% of the interviews for this study.

Theme 4: Working Environment

The final theme found in the study centered on the nature and conditions of the addiction treatment working environment. Herzberg discussed working conditions, job workload, and work environment as hygiene factors that when increased, would limit

demotivation and job satisfaction (Bhatt et al., 2022). The respondents noted the value of the working environment in improving employee motivation in Interview Questions 1, 3, and 5 for the study. In this study, all ten participants discussed the value of having an aesthetically-pleasing work environment, with manageable work expectations and resources as a valuable motivator in their business. The main subthemes noted in all ten of the interviews included well-maintained physical space, available resources, and manageable job expectations.

All ten participants discussed the value of a clean and well-maintained environment as a motivator for employees in their business. Participant M2 stated, "people deserve good working conditions. I prioritize making sure that new hires have a tour, understand the layout of their office space, and have working phones and laptops." Participant L3 emphasized the same value in the physical environment when motivating team members. She stated, "when you work for a place that is beautiful, you can feel proud coming to work." She discussed prior work experiences with less than well-maintained physical plants, and how that first impression each day facilitated a decrease in employee motivation. She noted, "It's motivating to be proud of the physical place you work in these field because not everyone can say that." Participant M3 noted that "when employees walk into a beautiful workspace, they feel good and they feel empowered to do their work. It sets a positive tone." When the physical working environment was well-kept and conducive to completing the work of employees, motivation was positively indicated.

Six out of ten leaders discussed the value of managing expectations in the work environment as a strategy in improving employee motivation. The management of expectations helped create work-life balance for employees, while increasing motivation while in the building. Responded M2 reported that he has designed systems to ensure that clinicians and other employees can leave work on time, despite the fact that the facility has patients in house at all times. He stated, "we have prioritized creating a work environment where multiple employees are cross-trained to ensure that burnout is reduced." A similar sentiment was echoed by participant M1. He discussed the tendency for employees in addiction treatment to be overworked and working overtime, which creates a work environment "riddled with negative attitudes and poor motivation."

The value of working resources was highlighted as a key driver in employee motivation within the working environment. Participant M4 stated that he has worked in environments where he was required to complete tasks with minimal or nonworking equipment and it's very challenging. In his current workplace, he stated that his employees have access to the resources they need to complete the job, which increases motivation. Responded M4 stated that buildings do not have to be "aesthetically-pleasing, but employees need working resources to complete their job." Participant M3 also discussed the value of adequate resources for employees in improving motivation. He stated, "when employees are not given the resources they need to do the job, this can lead to failure." By creating a working environment with rich resources and training for the role, motivation increases.

Finally, six out of ten leaders discussed the detrimental impact of organizational policies in the working environment on employee motivation. Participants M1, M2, M4, L1, L2, and L3 discussed the tendency of larger organizations to create policies at the corporate level that can create a challenging working environment at the site level. M4 stated, "policies are needed to operate, but when they are created with little impact from the site teams, they can cause dissatisfaction." He noted that when policies are rolled out blindly, with little feedback from site leaders, it causes frustration in employees. Leader L3 also discussed the challenges to employee motivation when "black-and-white policies" are implemented from the top down. She noted that policies that lack site-level insight can decrease motivation and negatively impact employees and their ability to deliver patient care. M5 discussed the value of policies in ensuring regulatory compliance within addiction treatment, but also noted disconnect that can happen when the "individuals creating the policies are not the ones doing the work." The need for effective feedback loops were indicated as positive ways of removing this disconnect and fostering employee motivation around organizational policies.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

The findings of the study are supported in analyzing Herzberg's conceptual framework and the literature. In a qualitative study of 22 community-based health workers, motivation was increased through multiple factors, including job security, physical safety, and safety (Mahmud et al., 2023). The workers, who engaged with patient similar to addiction treatment workers, prioritized a working environment that was safe and secure to conduct their work (Mahmud et al., 2023). Herzberg theorized that

when an employee's working conditions are positive and well-resourced, motivation increases. This was validated through a recent descriptive study at the largest petrochemical company in Iran. Banihashemi and Khalilzadeh (2022) found that working environment conditions were the highest motivating factor for employees, even above career advancement and development. Creating a positive working environment for employees is a valuable strategy to improve motivation.

Correlation to the Literature

The literature also notes the value of this strategy within the healthcare industry. In a study of 104 nurses in a medical surgical ward in Turkey, Fong et al. (2021) found that positive working conditions, including clean environment, adequate resources, and supportive leadership fostered increased motivation within the workforce. Similar findings were noted by Mathison et al. (2021) in a quantitative study of 24. 385 Danish health care workers. The researchers found that turnover was greatest for those employees who experienced lack of motivation and burnout due to the psychosocial working conditions within the hospital, specifically around large caseload sizes, lack of resources, and limited leadership support (Mathison et al., 2021). For addiction treatment employees, a healthy and happy working environment can improve motivation and contribute retention in the workforce.

Applications to Professional Practice

Identifying the leadership strategies that improve employee motivation is vital within the addiction treatment business. The combination of financial and non-financial leadership strategies are key to improving employee motivation in the workforce

(Mahmud et al., 2023). Leadership strategies for increasing motivation in this study included: (a) employee and peer relationships, (b) recognition, praise, promotions, and (c) adequate compensation, and (d) working environment. All of the participants discussed the use of the above strategies for increasing employee motivation within their addiction treatment business. The findings from this study can help other addiction treatment leaders motivate their employees, increase retention, and improve patient outcomes.

Many of the leaders interviewed experienced similar challenges in utilizing the above strategies. These challenges included (a) lack of time and resources, (b) industry growth pressures, and (c) lack of feedback on organizational policies. These challenges were discussed by Ashford et al. (2018) who noted the growing number of residents in need of addiction treatment, yet the continued burden on the industry surrounding funding, workforce development, administrative burdens, and the adoption of strategies to ensure effective patient outcomes. The results of this study may demonstrate the strategies that can help overcome these challenges and make a positive impact on the addiction treatment epidemic.

Implications for Social Change

The epidemic of addiction continues to increase globally. As stated by Stelson et al. (2022), as the availability and lethality of addictive substance increases, so does the burden on employees in the industry. The need for effective leadership strategies to retain key personnel in this industry is greater than ever. As shown by the results of my study, utilizing effective strategies to motivate addiction treatment employees can improve the

overall function of the business, as well as ensure the delivery of quality services to patients.

Employee retention improves business profitability, and the implications for social change in retaining qualified and committed employees in the addiction treatment industry may improve outcomes for individuals struggling with addiction. In addition to the benefits to addiction treatment businesses, clients receiving treatment may benefit from retaining employees who can consistently support them in achieving goals throughout their treatment journey.

Recommendations for Action

The expansion of needed addiction treatment depends on the ability of leaders to motivate and retain employees. To increase employee retention, addiction treatment leaders should focus on the strategies that build relationships, focus on praise and promotion, provide adequate compensation, and ensure a conducive work environment. Employee shortages are detrimental as the need for addiction treatment increases, and leaders have a responsibility to manage the emotional and physical toll of the job within the workplace (Stelson et al., 2022). It is only through the development of a motivated workplace that we can begin to help those struggling with addiction and bring down the associated economic costs.

My recommendation is that organizations prioritize the strategies that ensure employee motivation. Hiring and developing these skills in leaders should be a focal point for any addiction treatment business. The findings of this study clearly note the value of building employee and peer relationships in addiction treatment, as well as recognizing, promoting, paying, and providing appropriate working conditions for employees. If organizations prioritize the use of these strategies in their leaders, motivation will increase. Motivated employees will remain with the organization, which has a positive impact on the patient receiving treatment (Choy-Brown et al., 2020).

The study finds that addiction leaders who are relational, engaged, and create a safe and collaborative environment will be the conduit to high levels of motivation for employees. Working in addiction treatment is challenging, and this study demonstrated that the leaders who understand the challenges and support their employees in overcoming them, experience motivated and retained workforces. The study also found that when organizations do not include leaders in policies or decision-making, motivation decreases. It is recommended that organizations create collaborative feedback loops with site leaders to ensure that policies and strategies are relational, equitable, and conducive to employee needs. Leadership styles based in control, compliance, and power are not effective in this industry (El Gharib & Elnahas, 2021). This study demonstrates that the most successful addiction treatment leaders motivate their teams through collaboration, rewards, and safety.

Recommendations for Further Research

In this study, I explored the strategies that addiction treatment leaders use to improve employee motivation. Researchers have explored the strategies that leaders can use to retain employees within the industry, especially as the addiction epidemic increases (Ashford et al., 2018). This study was limited to a qualitative, multiple-case study involving addiction treatment leaders in the states of New Jersey, Pennsylvania,

and New York. Future research should include mixed approaches, a range of different leaders, a mix of levels of care (inpatient, outpatient, private practice, etc.) and multiple geographic areas. The study's sample size was restricted to ten addiction treatment leaders. Hennink and Kaiser (2022) state that qualitative samples can range from five to fifty participants, with a larger sample size providing more thorough data to respond to the research question. Future studies should focus on increasing the number of participants.

The opportunity to increase the participant pool, especially by varying regions and levels of care may produce more strategies to improve employee motivation. There are three limitations to this study. The first limitation is in the geographic area of focus. The study only focused on leaders from three states, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and New York, and if additional treatment leaders were interviewed across a more diverse region, responses may have varied. Another limitation is in the available research on addiction treatment employees in the catchment area. The literature was sparse on the business of addiction treatment as a whole, but there were very few studies that focused on treatment leaders in the geographic sample area. The final limitation is in the sample size. The researcher did reach thematic saturation for the study, but given the homogenous region in which participants were pulled, an increased diverse sample size would be advantageous for future studies (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). Future studies should focus on overcoming these limitations and increasing the literature on the addiction treatment business.

Reflections

In this study, I investigated strategies addiction treatment leaders use to improve employee motivation. Since I was young, it has been my dream to acquire my doctoral degree. Conducting this research study was one of the most challenging academic pursuits of my life. Despite the many emotions that I experienced along the journey, completing this process was rewarding and challenged me to stretch my comfort zone. Through dedication, perseverance, and hard work, I was able to achieve my lifelong dream.

I received tons of support along the way from my teachers, peers, committee members, and chairman to help me navigate through this process. Even through the challenges, I could not be more grateful for the achievement of finishing this research.

Learning about the strategies that addiction treatment leaders use to improve employee motivation was invaluable to me as a learner, but even more beneficial as a fellow leader. I was able to challenge some of my own biases around leadership strategies, as well as identify opportunities for improvement in my own leadership. As a leader in the addiction treatment industry, the information garnered from this study is invaluable. The experience I have gained through completion of this study will help me grow my professional skillset, as well as coach and lead others to utilize strategies that effectively improve the motivation of team members.

Conclusion

Motivation is needed to retain employees in the addiction treatment industry.

Leaders are tasked with identifying the strategies that increase employee motivation, and

ultimately, retention. The purpose of this qualitative study was to identify the strategies that addiction treatment leaders use to motivate employees. Appropriate and consistent use of these strategies will yield a positive impact for the employees, business, and patients.

I interviewed ten addiction treatment leaders to respond to the research question. From the responses, four themes emerged: (a) employee and peer relationships, (b) recognition, praise, promotions, and (c) adequate compensation, and (d) working environment. The study found that addiction treatment leaders are facing many challenges, and by increasing motivator factors and decreasing hygiene factors, employee motivation will improve. By fostering relationships, recognition, and growth within the facility and advocating for increased compensation and positive working conditions, leaders can successfully motivate their teams. By focusing on these strategies, leaders can anticipate employee retention and more positive outcomes for the patients receiving addiction treatment.

References

- Abraham, J. L. S., & Prasetyo, Y. T. (2021). Macro ergonomics-based approach in job satisfaction in high school teachers in a school in Mindoro using Herzberg's two-factor theory. 2021 IEEE 8th International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Applications, 1, 106-109. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICIEA52957.2021.9436756
- Adler, R. H. (2022). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 1, 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1177/08903344221116620
- Akdemir, E. (2020). The determination of teachers' motivation based on Herzberg's motivation theory. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, *19*(4), 89-101. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1272850.pdf
- Alam, M. N., Hassan, M. M., Bowyer, D., & Reaz, M. (2020). The effects of wage and welfare facilities on employee productivity: Mediating role of employee work motivation. *Australasian Accounting Business & Finance Journal*, 14(4), 38-60. https://doi.org/10.14453/aabfj.v14i4.4
- Alrawahi, S., Sellgren, S. F., Altouby, S., Alwahaibi, N., & Brommels, M. (2020). The application of Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation to job satisfaction in clinical laboratories in Omani hospitals. *Heliyon*, 6(9), 1-9.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04829
- Artaya, P., Kamisutara, M., Muchayan, A., & Deviyanti, I. S (2021). Abraham Maslow's hierarchical need fulfillment and Herzberg's two factor theory for creating worker loyalty. *The Spirit of Society Journal*, 4(2), 66-76.

 https://doi.org/10.29138/scj.v4i2.1361

- Ashford, R. D., Brown, A. M., & Curtis, B. (2018). Systemic barriers in substance use disorder treatment: A prospective qualitative study of professionals in the field.

 Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 189(1), 62-69.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.04.033
- Astvik, W., Welander, J., & Larsson, R. (2020). Reasons for staying: A longitudinal study of work conditions predicting social workers' willingness to stay in their organization. *British Journal of Social Work, 50*, 1382-1400.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcz103
- Banihashemi, S. A., & Khalilzadeh, M. (2022). Assessing employees' job motivation using BWM method and fuzzy goal programming: A case study of a petrochemical company. *International Journal of Energy Sector Management*, 16(6), 1259-1280. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijesm-03-2021-026
- Behling, O., Labovitz, G., & Kosmo, R. (1968). The Herzberg controversy: A critical reappraisal. *Academy of Management Journal*, 11(1), 99-108.
- Bhatt, N., Chitranshi, J., & Mehta, M. (2022). Testing Herzberg's two factor theory on millennials. *Cardiometry*, 22(1), 231-236.

 https://doi.org/10.18137/cardiometry.2022.22.231236
- Bhattacharya, S., & Mittal, P. (2020). The impact of individual needs on employee performance while teleworking. *Australasian Accounting Business & Finance Journal*, 15(1), 65-85. https://doi.org/10.14453/aabfj.v14i5.5
- Bockman, V. M. (1971). The Herzberg controversy. *Personnel Psychology*, 24(2), 155-189.

- Cagne, C. A., Finch, W. L., & Myrick, K. J., & Davis, L. M. (2018). Peer workers in the behavioral and integrated health workforce: Opportunities and future directions.

 American Journal of Preventative Medicine, 54(6), 258-266.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.03.010
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, M., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: Complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652-661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206
- Chmielewska, M., Stokwiszewski, J., Filip, J., & Hermanowski, T. (2020). Motivation factors affecting the job attitude of medical doctors and the organizational performance of public hospitals in Warsaw, Poland. *BMC Health Services**Research*, 20, 701-713. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05573-z
- Cho, Y., Grenier, R., & Williams, P. (2022). Introduction: Innovation in qualitative research in HRD. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 46(7), 685-692. https://doi.org/10.1008/ejtd-05-2022-0058
- Chopra, K. (2019). Indian shopper motivation to use artificial intelligence: Generating Vroom's expectancy theory of motivation using grounded theory approach.

 *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 47(3), 331-347.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijrdm-11-2018-0251
- Choy-Brown, M., Stanhope, V., Wackstein, N., & Cole, H. D. (2020). Do social workers lead differently? Examining associations with leadership style and organizational

- factors. Human Service Organizations, Management, Leadership, & Governance, 44(4), 332-342. https://doi.org/10.1080/23303131.2020.1767744
- Cleary, M., Kornhaber, R., Thapa, D. K., West, S., & Visentin, D. (2020). A systematic review of behavioral outcomes for leadership interventions amongst health professionals. *The Journal of Nursing Research*, 28(5), 1-25.

 http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=fulltext&D=ovft&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&SEARCH=%2210.1097/JNR.000000000000000397%22.di
- Coleman, P. (2021). Validity and reliability within qualitative research in the caring sciences. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, *14*(3), 2041-2045. http://oro.open.ac.uk/81588/1/Coleman%20Validity%20and%20Reliability.pdf
- Cox, C. A. (2019). Nurse manager job satisfaction and retention: A home healthcare perspective. *Nursing Management*, 50(7), 16-23.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.numa.0000558512.58455.68
- Davidescu, A. A. M., Roman, M., Strat, V. A., & Mosora, M. (2019). Regional sustainability, individual expectations, and work motivation: A multilevel analysis. *Sustainability*, *11*(3331), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.3390/su1112331
- Davies, H. (2022). Reshaping the review of consent so we might improve participant choice. *Research Ethics Review*, 18(1), 3-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/17470161211043703
- Davis, K., & Allen, G. R. (1970). Length of time that feelings persist for Herzberg's motivational and maintenance factors. *Personnel Psychology*, 23(1), 67-76.

- Desselle, S. P., Clubbs, B. H., & Darbshire, P. (2022). Communication in pharmacy higher education to improved work-life and mitigate balance. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 86(2), 107-114. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe8616
- Dijkhuizen, L. (2021). A walk in the woods: The role of focus groups in finding meaning.

 **Journal of European Baptist Studies, 21(1), 67-85.*

 https://doi.org/10.25782/jebs.v21i1.698
- Dzwigol, H., & Dzwigol-Barosz, M. (2020). Research processes and methodological triangulation. *Organization and Management*, *148*, 161-170. https://doi.org/10.29119/1641-3466.2020.148.12
- Eby, L., Burk, H., & Maher, C. P. (2010). How serious of a problem is staff retention in substance abuse treatment? A longitudinal study of actual turnover. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 39(3), 264.271.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2010.06.009
- El Gharib, A., & Elnahas, E. (2021). Evaluate the role of leadership in crisis

 management: A field study in psychiatric hospitals in Egypt. *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal, 13*(3), 113-123.

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=bth&A

 N=153380800&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Emiroglu, O., Guneyli, A., & Burgul, N. S. (2017). Motivational sources of teachers in a developing country. *Revista de Cercatare si Interventie Socialia*, *57*(1), 57-66.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341188679_Motivational_Sources_of_T
 <a href="mailto:eachers_eacher

- Enos, G. (2014). Facility leaders must counteract factors sabotaging staff retention.

 *Alcoholism & Drug Abuse Weekly, 26(46), 1-7.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/adaw.30002
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87(1), 160-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Filteau, M. R., Kim, F. L., & Green, B. (2022). It's more than just a job to them: A qualitative examination of patient and provider perspectives on medication-assisted treatment for opioid use disorder. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 58, 321-327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-021-00824-7
- Fofana, F., Bazeley, P., & Ragnault, P. (2020). Applying a mixed methods design to test saturation for qualitative data in in health outcomes research. *PLoS One*, *15*(6), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234898
- Fong, C. M., Azam, S. F. M., & Ahmad, A. (2021). Investigating employee retention of nurses within healthcare sector. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(9), 7012-7021.
 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=eue&
- Ford, J. H., & Gilson, A. (2021). Influence of participation in a quality improvement collaborative on staff perceptions of organizational sustainability. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(34), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-06026-3

AN=160605021&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Gagne, C. A., Finch, W. L., Myrick, K. J., & Davis, L. M. (2018). Peer workers in the behavioral and integrated health workforce: Opportunities and future directions. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 54(6), 258-266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.03.010
- Gaiser, M. G., Buche, J. L., Wayment, C. C., Schoebel, V., Smith, J. E., Chapman, S. A., & Beck, A. J. (2021). A systematic review of the roles and contributions of peer providers in the behavioral health workforce. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 61(4), 203-210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre/2021.03.025
- Garner, B. R., & Hunter, B. D. (2014). Predictors of staff turnover and turnover intentions within addiction treatment settings: Changes matter over time.

 Substance abuse: Research and treatment, 8(1), 63-71.

 https://doi.org/10.4137/sart.s17133
- Gill, P. J., Bayliss, A., Sozer, A., Buchanan, A., Breen-Reid, F., De Castris-Garcia, K.,
 Green, K., Quinlan, M., Wong, M., Frappier, N., Cowan, S., Chan, K., Arafeh, C.,
 Anwar, D., Rashid, M., Colin, M., Parkin, P. C., Cohen, E., & Mahant, S. (2022).
 Patient, caregiver, and clinician participant prioritization of research questions in pediatric hospital medicine. *JAMA Network Open*, 5(4), 1-15.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.9085

- Gomel, D. W. (2015). Retaining behavioral healthcare employees of the millennial generation [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Walden University.
- Goodboy, A. K., Martin, M. M., & Bolkan, S. (2021). Workplace bullying and work engagement: A self-determination tool. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *35*(21), 4686-4708. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517717492
- Granikov, V., Bouthillier, F., & Pluye, P. (2020). Understanding collaboration in monitoring research publications: Protocol for a qualitative multiple case study. *Education for Information*, 36(1), 69-79. https://doi.org/10.3233/efi-190340
- Grodal, S., Anteby, S., & Holm, A. L. (2021). Achieving rigor in qualitative analysis:

 The role of active categorization in theory building. *Academy of Management Review*, 46(3), 591-612. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2018.0482
- Han, S., Wang, X., Wang, Y., & Gao, F. (2006). The application and validation of two-factor theory to the design service guarantee for online stores. *In 2006 International Conference on Service Systems and Service Management*, 1, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1109/icsssm.2006.320579
- Hannah, S. T., Perez, A. L. U., & Lester, P. B. (2020). Bolstering workplace
 psychological well-being through transactional and transformational leadership.
 Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies, 27(3), 222-240.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/154805182093323
- Harris, J. I., Barnes, T., Boyd, J. E., Joseph, K. M., & Osatuke, K. (2022). Workplace bullying amongst mental health providers with lived experience of a mental health

challenge. Psychological Services, 19(1), 58-65.

https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000499

Hassan, H. A., Zhang, X., Ahmad, A. B., & Liu, B. (2021). Public service motivation and employee change-supportive intention: Utilizing the theory of planned behavior. *Public Personnel Management*, 50(2) 283-304. https://doi.org/10.1177/00910226020934515

Hatch-Maillette, M. A., Harwick, R., Baer, J. S., Masters, T., Cloud, K., Peavy, M.,
Wiest, K., Wright, L., Beadnell, B., & Wells, E. A. (2019). Counselor turnover in substance use disorder treatment research: Observations from one multisite trial.
Substance Abuse, 40(2), 214-220.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2019.1572051

Haynes, A., Sherrington, C., Wallbank, G., Wickman, J., Tong, A., Kirkham, C.,
Manning, S., Ramsay, E., & Tiedemann, A. (2021). Using self-determination
theory to understand and improved recruitment for the coaching of healthy aging
(CHANGE) trial. *Plos One*, 16(11), 1-21.
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0259873

Hayre-Kwan, S., Quinn, B., Chu, T., Orr, P., & Snoke, J. (2021). Nursing and Maslow's hierarchy: A health care pyramid approach to safety and security during a global pandemic. *Nurse Leader*, *19*(6), 590-595. https://doi.org/10.106/j.mnl.2021.08.013

- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research:

 A systematic review of empirical tests. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292, 1-10.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523
- Herschell, A. D., Kolko, D. J., Hart, J. A., Brabson, L. A., & Gavin, J. G. (2020). Mixed method study of workforce turnover and evidence-based treatment implementation in behavioral health care settings. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 102, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104419
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., & Snyderman, B. B. (1959). *The motivation to work*.

 Transaction Publishers.
- Hopkins, D., & Schwanen, T. (2022). Recruiting research participants for transport research: Reflections from studies on autonomous vehicles in the UK. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 102, 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2022.103377
- Jamali, H. R. (2018). Does research using qualitative designs (grounded theory, ethnography, and phenomenology) have more impact? *Library and Information Science Research*, 40(1), 201-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2018.09.002
- Jefferson, K., Stanhope, K. K., Jones-Harrell, C., Vester, A., Tyano, E., & Hall, C. D. X. (2021). A scoping review of recommendations in the English language on conducting research with trauma-exposed populations since publication of the Belmont Report: Thematic review of existing recommendations on research with trauma-exposed populations. *PloS One*, *16*(7), 1-22.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254003

- Jelaca, M. S., Milicevic, N., Bjkevic, R., & Petrov, V. (2020). The effects of environment uncertainty and leadership styles on organizational innovativeness. *Engineering Economics*, 31(4), 472-486. https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ee.31.4.20948
- Karaferis, D., Aletras, V., Raikou, M., & Niakas, D. (2022). Factors influencing motivation and work engagement of healthcare professionals. *Mater Sociomed*, 34(3), 216-224. https://doi.org/10.5455/msm.2022.34.216-224
- Kekeya, J. (2021). Qualitative case study research design: The commonalities and differences between collective, intrinsic, and instrumental case studies.
 Contemporary PNG Studies, 36(1), 28-37.
 https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.356219476950585
- Kelly, R. J., & Hearld, L. R. (2020). Burnout and leadership style in behavioral health care: A literature review. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 47(4), 581-600. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-019-09679-z
- Kemery, E. R., Mossholder, K. W., & Bedeian, A. G. (1987). Role stress, physical symptomology, and turnover intentions: A causal analysis of three alternative specifications. *Journal of Occupational Behavior*, 8(1), 11-23. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030080103
- Khan, I. U., Khan, M. S., & Idris, M. (2021). Investigating the support of organizational culture for leadership styles (transformational & transactional). *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 31(6), 689-700.

 https://doi.org/10.1080.10911359.2020.1803174

- Koziol, L., & Koziol, M. (2020). The concept of trichotomy of motivating factors in the workplace. *Central European Journal of Operations Research*, 28, 707-715. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10100-019-00658-5
- Kulesza, M., Hunter, S. B., Shearer, A. L., & Booth, M. (2016). Relationship between provider stigma and predictors of staff turnover among addiction treatment providers. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, *35*(1), 63-70. https://doi.org/10.1080/07347324.2016.1256716
- Kulikowski, K., & Sedlak, P. (2017). Can you buy work engagement? The relationship between pay, fringe benefits, financial bonuses, and work engagement. *Current Psychology*, 39(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-017-9768-4
- Lamb, D., & Ogle, A. (2019). What precevent motives determine the decision to volunteer at a sporting event? How can Herzberg's two-factor theory help? *Event Management*, 23, 495-510. https://doi.org/10.3727/152599519X15506259855643
- Lee, Y. J., & Lee, M. H. (2022). Structural model of retention intention of nurses in small and medium-sized hospitals: Based on Herzberg's motivation hygiene theory.

 Healthcare, 10, 502-515. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare10030502
- Lee, J., & Shin, Y. (2020). Using the theory of planned behavior to predict Korean college students' help-seeking intention. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services* & *Research*, 49(1), 76-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-020-09735-z
- Levitt, H. M. (2021). Introduction to the special section: Questioning established qualitative methods and assumptions. *Qualitative Psychiatry*, 8(3), 359-364. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000222

- Li, Y., Zhang, S., Song, J., Tuo, M., Sun, C., & Yang, F. (2021). Effects of self-management intervention programs based on the health belief model and planned behavior theory on self-management behavior and quality of life in middle-aged stroke patients. *Evidence-Based Complementary & Alternative Medicines*, 2021(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/8911143
- Lindvig, G. R., Topor, A., Boe, T. D., & Larsen, I. B. (2020). I will never forget him: A qualitative exploration of staff descriptions of helpful relationships in supportive housing. *Journal of Psychiatric Mental Health Nursing*, 28, 326-334.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jpm.12673
- Linette, D. (2019). Selecting leaders for behavioral health programs. *Nurse Leader*, 18(1), 78-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2019.06.007
- Lloyd, R., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of expectancy theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, *14*(1), 24-37.
- Locke, E. A. (1970). Job satisfaction and job performance: A theoretical analysis.

 *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 5(5), 484-500.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(70)90036-x
- Mahat-Shamir, M., Niemeyer, R. A., & Pitcho-Prelorentzos, S. (2021). Designing indepth semi-structured interviews for revealing meaning reconstruction after loss.

 Death Studies, 45(2), 83-90. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2019.1617388
- Mahmud, I., Siddiqua, S., Akhter, I., Sarker, M., Theobald, S., & Rashid, S. F. (2023). Factors affecting motivation of close-to-community sexual and reproductive

- health workers in low-income urban settlements in Bangladesh: A qualitative study. *PLoS ONE*, *18*(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279110
- Maidani, E. A. (1991). Comparative study of Herzberg's two-factor theory of job satisfaction among public and private sectors. *Public Personnel Management*, 20(4), 441-449.
- Martinez, M. C., & Martinez, M. (2019). Adjunct perspectives on job factors and job attitudes in non-traditional institutions. *Journal of the Professioriate*, 10(1), 1-21. https://caarpweb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Adjunct-Perspectives-Spring-2019-PP.pdf
- Matei, M. C., & Abrudan, M. M. (2016). Adapting Herzberg's two-factor theory to the cultural context of Romania. *Procedia, Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 221, 95-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.094
- Mathison, J., Nguyen, T. L., Jensen, J. H., Rugulies, R., & Rod, N. H. (2021). Reducing employee turnover in hospitals: Estimating the effects of hypothetical improvements in the psychosocial work environment. *Scandinavian Journal of Work and Environmental Health*, 47(6), 456-465.

 https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3969
- Medved, J. A. (1982). The applicability of Herzberg's motivation-hygiene theory. *Educational Leadership*, 39(7), 555-563.
- Meza, R. D., Triplett, N. S., Woodard, G. S., Martin, P., Khairuzzaman, A. N., Jamora, G., & Dorsey, S. (2021). The relationship between first-level leadership and inner-context and implementation outcomes in behavioral health: A scoping

- review. *Implementation Science*, 16(1), 69-90. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-021-01104-4
- Miller, J. (2018). 2018 Workforce survey. *Behavioral Healthcare Executive*, 38(1), 12-13.
 - https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A550832306/AONE?u=anon~650b9555&sid=googleScholar&xi=90937fc6
- Miranda, S. R. (2019). Preferred leadership styles by gender. *Journal of Management Development*, 38(7), 604-615. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-01-2019-0034
- Mwaka, E., & Horn, L. (2019). Researchers' perspectives on informed consent and ethical review of biobank research in South Africa: A cross-sectional study.

 Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics, 14(4), 307-317.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264619866991
- Nagpaul, T., Leong, C. H., Toh, C. S., Amir, A. B., Chin, R., & Tan, S. (2022). Exploring job satisfaction and intentions to quit among security officers: The role of work hygiene and motivator factors. *Social Sciences*, *11*(1), 497-510. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci11110497
- Newman, P. A., Guta, A., & Black, T. (2021). Ethical considerations for qualitative research methods during the COVID-19 pandemic and other emergency situations: Navigating the virtual field. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211047823

- Olubiyi, O., Smiley, G., Luckel, H., & Melaragno, R. (2019). A qualitative case study of employee turnover in retail business. *Heliyon*, 5, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e01796
- Park, S., Lee, J. S., & Nicolau, J. L. (2020). Understanding the dynamics of the airline service attributes: Satisfiers and dissatisfiers. *Tourism Management*, 81, 1-8. https://doi.org/10..1016/j.tourman.2020.104163
- Pedraza, L., & Chen, R. (2020). Examining motivator factors of STEM undergraduate persistence through two-factor theory. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 1, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2021.1999722
- Philippe, F. L., Lopes, M., Houlfort, N., & Fernet, C. (2019). Work-related episodic memories can increase or decrease motivation and psychological health at work.
 Work & Stress, 33(4), 366-384. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2019.1577311
- Powell, G. N. (1990). One more time: Do female and male managers differ? *Academy of Management Executive*, 4(1), 68-75. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.1990.4274684
- Price, H. E., & Smith, C. (2021). Procedures for reliable cultural model analysis using semi-structured interviews. *Field Methods*, *33*(2), 185-201. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x20982725
- Rachiotis, G., Syrgani, C., Symvoulakis, E. K., Dadouli, K., Papagiannis, D., Gourgoulianis, K. I., & Candilis, P. J. (2021). Burnout and associated factors among Greek substance use disorder treatment providers during economic crisis.

 Archives of Environmental and Occupational Health, 76(8), 547-553.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/19338244.2020.1842311

- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424
- Richards, A. J., & Kieffer, J. (2022). Addressing the associate level nurse faculty shortage: Do job and mentoring satisfaction predict retention. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *1*, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2022.90.007
- Rietmeijer, C. B. T., & Veen, M. (2022). Phenomenological research in health professions education: Tunneling from both ends. *Teaching and Learning in Medicine*, *34*(1), 113-121. https://doi.org/10.1080/1040134.2021.1971989
- Roche, A., Duraisingam, V., Trifonoff, A., & Tovell, A. (2013). The health and well-being of indigenous drug and alcohol workers: Results from a national Australian survey. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 44(1), 17-26.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2012.01.009
- Romano, S., Fucci, D., Scaniello, G., Baldassare, M. T., Turhan, B., & Jurista, N. (2021).

 On researcher bias in software engineering experiments. *The Journal of Systems*& *Software*, 182(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2021.111068
- Sarkar, S., Thakur, A., Sood, E., & Mandal, P. (2022). Barriers and facilitators of addiction treatment: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 20, 672-690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00394-x
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.

- Scanlan, J. N., & Still, M. (2019). Relationships between burnout, turnover intention, job satisfaction, job demands and job resources for mental health personnel in an Australian mental health service. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 62. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3841-z
- Schlegel, E. C., Tate, J. A., Pickler, R. H., & Smith, L. H. (2021). Practical strategies for qualitative inquiry in a virtual world. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 77(10), 4035-4044. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.15000
- Schuler, J., Baumann, N., Chasiotis, A., Bender, M., & Baum, I. (2019). Implicit motives and basic psychological needs. *Journal of Personality*, 87, 37-55. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12431
- Sezgin, D., O'Donovan, M., Cornally, N., Liew, A., & O'Caoimh, R. (2019). Defining frailty for healthcare practice and research. A qualitative systematic review with thematic analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 92, 16-26. https://doi.org/10.1016.j.ijnurstu.2018.12.014
- Shah, A. M., Yan, X., Tariq, S., & Ali, M. (2021). What patients like or dislike in physicians: Analyzing drivers of patient satisfaction and dissatisfaction using a digital topic modeling approach. *Information Processing and Management*, 58, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipm.2021.102516
- Sharma, P. N., Daniel, S. L., Chung, T. R., & Grover, V. (2022). A motivation-hygiene model of open-source software code contribution and growth. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 23(1), 165-195.

 https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00712

- Sharpe, T. P. (2008). Job satisfaction among psychiatric registered nurses in New England. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 15, 374-378.
- Sherman, L. J., Lynch, S. E., Greeno, C. G., & Hoeffel, E. M. (2017, July 11). *Behavioral health workforce: Quality assurance practices in substance abuse treatment facilities*. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK458283/
- Shrestha, M., & Dangol, R. (2020). Conscientiousness and motivator factors: Can they contribute to each other among teachers from technical and vocational education and training of Nepal? *Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies in Education*, 9(1), 117-137. http://ojed.org/jise
- Siangchokyoo, N., Klinger, R. L., & Campion, E. D. (2020). Follower transformation as the linchpin of transformational leadership theory: A systematic review and future research agenda. *The Leadership Quarterly, 31,* 1-18.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.101341
- Seitz, S. R., & Owens, B. P. (2021). Transformable? A multi-dimensional exploration of transformational leadership and follower implicit person theories. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, 30(1), 95-109. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2020.1830761
- Singh, M., & Bhattacharjee, A. (2020). A study to measure job satisfaction among academicians using Herzberg's theory in the context of Northeast India. *Global Business Review*, 21(1), 197-218. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150918816413

- Skinner, N., & Roche, A. M. (2021). Very demanding: Extremely rewarding: Exploring the co-occurrence of burnout and engagement in alcohol and other drug workers.

 *Drug and Alcohol Review, 40(1), 989-997. https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13250
- Sobaih, A. E., & Hasanein, A. N. (2020). Herzberg's theory of motivation and job satisfaction: Does it work for hotel industry in developing countries? *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality and Tourism*, 19(3), 319-343. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2020.1737768
- Soumar, B., Alnahhal, M., Al Hazza, M., Sakhrieh, A., & Tabash, M. I. (2021). Factors motivating governmental employees in the United Arab Emirates. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 19(4), 248-257.

 https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.19(4).2021.20
- Staempfli, S., & Lamarche, K. (2020). Top ten: A model of dominating factors influencing job satisfaction and emergency nurses. *International Emergency Nursing*, 49, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2019.100814
- Stefan, S. C., Catalin, S., & Florentina, C. (2020). Implications of Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory on healthcare employees' performance. *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Services*, *16*(59), 124-443. https://doi.org/10.24193/tras.59e.7
- Stelson, E. A., Sabbath-Clayton, L. L., Sorensen, G., Kubzansky, L. D., Berkman, L. F., & Sabbath, E. L. (2022). Residential addiction treatment providers: Identifying the role of social context in worker health and turnover. *Social Science & Medicine*, 314 (1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.115462

- Stewart, R. E., Wolk, C. B., Neimark, G., Vyas, R., Young, J., Tjoa, C., Kampman, K., Jones, D. T., & Mandell, D. S. (2021). It's not just the money: The role of treatment ideology in publicly funded substance abuse treatment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 120, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2020.108176
- Taquette, S. R., & de Matta Souza, L. (2022). Ethical dilemmas in qualitative research: A critical literature review. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221078731
- Tauscher, J. S., Cohn, E. B., Johnson, T. R., Diteman, K. D., Ries, A. K., Atkins, D. C., & Hallgren, D. A. (2021). What do clinicians want? Understanding frontline addiction treatment clinicians' preferences and priorities to improve the design of measurement-based care technology. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, 16(38), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-021-00247-5
- Tchitchinadze, K. (2020). Theoretical and practical aspects of students' motivation in the military education setting. *Journal of Defense Resource Management*, 11(2), 97-112.
 - https://www.proquest.com/openview/27af1d5acab1a8458671a6a4e1c2059d/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=1876336
- Thant, Z. M., & Chang, Y. (2021). Determinants of public employee job satisfaction in Myanmar: Focus on Herzberg's two-factor theory. *Public Organization Review*, 21, 157-175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-020-00481-6

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, D. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Antigoni Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Toytok, E. H., & Acar, A. (2021). Organizational policies in schools and the relation between Herzberg's double factor hygiene-motivation theory. *International Journal of Curriculum and Instruction*, *13*(1), 93-113.

 http://ijci.wcci-international.org/index.php/IJCI/article/view/525
- Tsounis, A., Niakas, D., & Sarafis, P. (2017). Social capital and job satisfaction among substance abuse treatment employees. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy*, *12*(8), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-017-0093-6
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2021). Occupational outlook handbook: Substance abuse, behavior disorder, and mental health counselors.

 https://www.bls.gov/ooh/community-and-social-service/substance-abuse-behavioral disorder-and-mental-health-counselors.html
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). *Office of Human Research Protections*. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

 https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and motivation. Wiley.
- Walker, T. M., Frick, P. J., Matlasz, T. M., Robertson, E. L., Mikolajewski, A. J.,

 Mitchell, C., Lopez-Duran, N., Monk, C., & Hyde, L. W. (2021). Psychometric

- properties of a semistructured interview to assess limited prosocial emotions. *Assessment*, 28(7), 1755-1764. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191120947796
- Wall, T. D., & Stephenson, G. M. (1970). Herzberg's two-factor theory of job attitudes:

 A critical evaluation and some fresh evidence. *Industrial Relations Journal*, 1(3),

 41-65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2338.tb00262.x
- Wang, T., Chen, W., Kang, Y., Lin, C., Cheng, C., Suk, F., Chen, H., Hsu, C., Fong, T.,
 & Huang, C. (2021). Why do pre-clinical medical students learn ultrasound?
 Exploring learning motivation through ERG theory. *BMC Medical Education*,
 21(438), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-02869-4
- Whiffin, C. J., Smith, B. G., Selveindran, S. M., Bashford, T., Esene, I. N., Mee, H.,
 Barki, M. T., Baticulon, R. E., Khu, K. J., Hutchinson, P. J., & Kolias, A. G.
 (2022). The value and potential of qualitative research methods in neurosurgery.
 World Neurosurgery, 161, 441-449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2021.12.040
- Wray, J., & Barrett, D. (2022). In the room where it happens: in-person or remote data collection in qualitative research? *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 25(2), 44-45. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2022-103535
- Yang, F., Jiang, Y., & Pu, X. (2021). Impact of work value perception on workers' physical and mental health: Evidence from China. *Healthcare*, 9, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9081059
- Yasin, Y. M., Kerr, M. S., Wong, C. A., & Belanger, C. H. (2019). Factors affecting nurses' job satisfaction in rural and urban acute care settings: A PRISMA

- systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 76, 963-979. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14293
- Yildiz, D., Temur, G. T., Beskese, A., & Bozbura, F. T. (2020). A spherical fuzzy analytic hierarchy process based on approach to prioritize career management activities improving employee motivation. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, 39, 6603-6618. https://doi.org/10.3233/jifs-189122
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods. Sage Publications.
- Yoon, B., & Uliassi, C. (2022). Researcher as instrument in qualitative research: The complexities of the educational researcher's identities. *The Qualitative Report*, 27(4), 1088-1102. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3175/2022.5074
- Zhang, P., Small, R. V., Von Gran, G. M., & Barcellos, S. (2000). A two-factor theory for website design. *In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual Hawaii International Conference on Systems Sciences*, 1, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1109/hicss.2000.926847
- Zhang, X., Jimpeng, X., & Khan, F. (2020). The influence of social media on employee's knowledge sharing motivation: A two-factor perspective theory. *SAGE*Publishing, 10, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020942495

Appendix: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to increase employee motivation?
- 2. How do you know that these strategies improved employee motivation?
- 3. What are any barriers or limitations, if any, to implementing these strategies?
- 4. Tell me about the impact of recognition, praise, and promotional opportunities on employees in your facility or business.
- 5. Tell me about the impact of organizational policies, salaries, incentives, working conditions, and peer relationships on employees in your business.
- 6. What are your current retention rates and reasons for turnover in your facility and/or business?
- 7. To the best of your knowledge, how do these rates and reasons compare to other regional treatment centers?